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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Let’s go ahead and get started, if we could.  What I’m going to do is start the hearing on the compact itself, and then somewhere in between there, we’re going to have a vote on SR 20, as members get here.  I want to make sure the members are here and have the opportunity to vote on this.

First of all, good morning.  This is an informational hearing—the first portion of this hearing.  As we get members to begin a quorum, I may interrupt you so we can establish that quorum, and then we can move on to SR 20.


For those of you who are new to the Capitol—and it doesn’t look like many of you are, looking through the crowd—I’m Senator Dean Florez.  I’d like to thank you for coming today.  

Today we’re going to examine the terms and conditions of the amendment to the Tribal-State compact between the State of California, as I mentioned earlier, and the Quechan Tribe.  Obviously, it’s our belief that the Tribal-State compact for gaming in California should be examined separately and placed in an individual piece of legislation and ratified by the Legislature.  We have a bill moving through the process in that effect.  And I also want you to know that we believe that each compact should be approved on its own individual merits.  That is the purpose of today’s discussion.

We want to hear today, if we could, about the terms and conditions, including local mitigations—examining the right of tribal sovereignty—and to discuss the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act; paying attention to good faith negotiations and ratification processes by the Legislature in terms of implementing this particular compact.  


As you can see from the agenda, we have a very busy morning ahead of us.  I’d like to express particularly the committee’s appreciation to the witnesses who are here today.


And with that, let’s go ahead and begin the hearing.  So, if we could have the Quechan tribal representatives to please come to the table.


Good morning.  Do you have statements?  And I do have some questions.


MR. AARON READ:  Mr. Chairman and members, Aaron Read, proudly representing the Quechan Tribe this morning.  

We want to thank you and your staff and all the members of Senate G.O. for their consideration and for having this hearing this morning.  We hope that we will be able to dispel some of the myths that have been going around regarding this compact and hope it will clarify provisions that some people have raised questions about.  We think that after the hearing, everyone will understand every provision of this compact and why it was negotiated.

It’s my pleasure to also introduce staff counsel to the tribe, Larry Stidham, seated to my far right.  He and I are available for technical assistance, but more importantly, we have the tribal leaders here.  I would like to introduce the president of the tribe, President Mike Jackson, and let him begin with an opening statement.  That statement is in writing, and it’s being passed out now.  We also have handout material that goes with that, and we’ll be going through some of the various points and individual sections of the compact.

So, without further adieu, Mr. President Mike Jackson.


MR. MIKE JACKSON:  Thank you, Aaron.


Senator, may I introduce my staff before we get started?  Sitting right beside me is Councilwoman Ms. Cryselle Uribe.

COUNCILMEMBER CRYSELLE URIBE:  Good morning.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.


MR. JACKSON:  Councilmember Mr. Merrill Kelly.  Our comptroller, Mr. Frank Espino.  Mr. Charles Montague, our general manager for our casino.  Mr. Gordon Osborn, construction committee member.  Mr. Felix Montague, the head of our tribal gaming and a respected elder.  And we have back there Mr. Brian Golding.  He’s head of our economic development department.

Senator Florez, thank you for the opportunity so we can tell our story on our compact.  We’re here to provide testimony to this committee regarding the amendment to our Tribal-State gaming compact which we negotiated with the Governor of the State of California.  The Quechan Tribe believes we have negotiated in good faith and compromised with the State to amend our compact to meet the needs of our tribal members.  The Quechan Tribe further believes that as a sovereign nation, we are entitled to the benefits of any agreement it makes.  Therefore, we are here today providing this committee with information regarding the history and the circumstances of our tribe, as well as information regarding the negotiations surrounding the amendment—there’s a lot of questions today—so that the committee may see for itself why we believe that the amendment to the Tribal-State gaming compact should be ratified by the Legislature without any further delay.

The Quechan people have been a river tribe along the Colorado River since time immemorial.  The Fort Yuma Reservation was established in 1884 by executive order.  The Quechan Tribe’s reservation currently comprises 45,000 acres and spans the California-Arizona border along the Colorado River, as well as bordering Mexico and Baja California.  The Fort Yuma Reservation borders the township of Winterhaven in California and the city of Yuma, Arizona.  The township of Winterhaven is a small town with approximately 600 population.  The closest California city is El Centro, which is 55 miles west of our reservation.  Our reservation’s the largest land-base tribe in California and the second in population.

With that, I’d like to call on our respected elder, Mr. Felix Montague, to expand on this a little bit, if I may.


MR. FELIX MONTAGUE:  Thank you.  


Good morning, honorable committee members.  I’d like to begin by saying just the statement that was recited here.  El Centro, which is the closest town to the Fort Yuma Indian Reservation, is 55 miles, and that in itself creates a burden and a hardship on our people to receive any kind of services.  

Basically what we’re here for today is to share with you the effort that we are trying to make on our own.  We have a citizenship there that is Californian.  We respect you people that represent us, and we hope what we tell you today will formally get your support in getting our amended compact ratified.

MR. JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr. Montague.


The Quechan Tribe currently has 3,230 members, and these numbers are continually increasing.  Thirty-two percent of the tribe’s currently enrolled members are children, and 6.2 percent are elders.  Since one-third of our tribe is children, the Quechan Nation realizes that the Quechan child is our most important resource we have.  That is why it is extremely vital that we provide our younger generation with the important tools of education to meet the unknown future.  

Housing, economic development, employment, and healthcare are essential resources we didn’t have—or very limited funding—before gaming.  The Quechan Nation wants to be a self-reliant tribe and not a burden on the State of California.  Through gaming this can happen.  This has been the case now, and we want to continue to provide a future for our tribe.

The economy of the communities directly surrounding the reservation (Winterhaven and Yuma) rely mainly on agriculture and tourism.  As a result, there are limited employment opportunities in the local area, making it difficult for members of the Quechan Tribe who wish to remain on or near their ancestral home to obtain gainful and steady employment.  Fifty-three percent of the tribe’s members live on or near the Fort Yuma Reservation.  The tribe’s current unemployment rate among tribal members is 67 percent, and a large percentage of tribal members live at or below the poverty level.


In addition to our economic struggle, the tribe’s children face educational hardships.  The majority of our children attend school in Winterhaven.  As is, unfortunately, the case with many school districts, the San Pasqual Valley Unified School District is a State-funded school which is underfunded and understaffed.  The lack of sufficient resources means our children’s school education is not met and often gets little attention, resulting in serious academic problems for many of our tribe’s children.  In the 1950s, the Quechan Tribe donated acres of land to the State of California to build the school that is currently San Pasqual Unified School District.  

By the State’s own data, as of today the educational system is failing and being ignored by the State.  The Quechan Tribe is doing our part for education by donating this land and has established other educational resources for our children, such as a fall and winter clothing program so our kids can dress properly while attending school.  This program is for kids from Head Start all the way to students attending college or vocational schools.  We also provide computers and accessories, school supplies, eyeglasses, et cetera, all designed to enhance our children’s learning.  Our Tribal Council gets involved with school issues along with the school board to help resolve and settle and bring a better educational system to our community.  Education is a high priority of our tribe.  We see no other way to meet that need for our kids for the future.

At this time, Ms. Cryselle Uribe, councilperson, would like to expand on that.

Ms. Uribe?


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  Thank you, and good morning once again, committee members.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  I would like to read a statement that I had prepared earlier so that I’m right on what I want to say.


Many of our children have gone through an education system without the opportunity to address their own special needs or even the needs to excel.  Some of our children are gifted but are extremely limited in their advancements due to the lack of opportunities within the school system itself.  We have taken a proactive approach to address the needs of our own young people.  We have provided tutoring resources, technical support, and higher education opportunities in order for our members to achieve their set goals.  We are proud of our Cornell graduate who is gainfully employed in the medical field.  We are proud of our Arizona State University graduate who has obtained a degree in law.  There are many others, from beauty school, culinary arts, graphic design, and even teachers.  The dreams go on.  These are the achievements that we strive to accomplish.


With the wise use of gaming dollars, these are the needs that we have to address within our population of people so that we do have a successful future.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Very well put.


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  Thank you.


MR. JACKSON:  For many years the Quechan Tribe’s survival has been a struggle to find ways to provide much needed economic, health, welfare, education, and housing programs for our tribal members.  To compound our fight to survive, news from the White House last week states that President Bush plans to save money by cutting much needed Indian programs in healthcare, education, and others.  

We just spoke about education—how important it is to us.  Unfortunately, as you see, federal government funding and State funding to our tribe is very limited and continues to diminish each year due to budget cuts.  Imperial County is one of the poorest counties in the State.  So, in order to provide employment opportunities and economic and social services assistance to tribal members, the Quechan Tribe has sought commercial opportunities; however, given the remote location of our tribe’s reservation, economic opportunities are substantially limited.  Thus, like many other tribes, the ability to offer gaming has proven to be one of the viable economic enterprises available to the Quechan Tribe.  Through our casino operations, we have been able to provide our members with employment opportunities and to establish governmental programs vital to the needs of our people.

The Quechan Tribe currently operates gaming facilities in Arizona and California.  Our Arizona casino has 475 slot machines and employs 404 individuals.  Our California casino has 349 slot machines and 12 table games and employs 198 individuals.  Both casinos are owned and operated by our tribe as tribal enterprises managed by tribal members.  We are proud to say we have no management contract with outside sources.  In total, there are 129 tribal members employed by both casinos.  


Like I stated, we are very proud that we can operate our own casinos without management from Vegas.  We’re very proud of this fact.  And Mr. Charles Montague, our tribal member who is our general manager, would like to speak on this.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.


MR. CHARLES MONTAGUE:  Good morning.  Thank you for the opportunity.

My name is Charles Montague.  I’m a tribal member with the Quechan Nation.  I’m very proud to be sitting here in front of you today.  


It’s been a long road.  I, too, have been through this educational system that was provided to me as a young man growing up from day one through my seventeen years.  I thought I received a good education.  I was an average student in that school.  But when I went out into the world, I took one of the opportunities that was afforded to me at the time.  We didn’t have gaming back then.  I went into the United States military—the United States Air Force.


I attended college during my military career and found out that I lacked a lot that was needed to succeed in life and bring back something to the tribe.  I took that education that I learned from both the military and the regulatory requirements being a member of the military requires, and I got out and went into the maritime law enforcement in the Coast Guard.  Spent four years there learning all about law and providing law enforcement on fisheries ops and alien migration.  I took this back to our tribe.  

We started an enterprise that we’re very proud of.  A hundred twenty-nine tribal members work underneath me that are trying to succeed and move up in the organization.  We took a lot of money and put it into our. . . . we hired a training manager and brought onsite training in a modular.  We provide management training, college classes, and also a GED program for our tribal members that don’t have a high school education. 


This opportunity of gaming has really brought a lot to our tribe that makes us very proud, but we still see on the horizon that if we can negotiate this compact and bring this casino onto our land, it will go a long ways.

I speak for a lot of people that were very disappointed that we haven’t moved forward yet, but I still see in the future that this will happen, and they’re counting on us to push this forward and bring this to our great nation.


I thank you for your time, and we’ll be around to answer any questions you may have.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thanks.


When you say you’re disappointed, who are you disappointed in?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Well, I know the processes, that there are things that you have to do to accomplish a certain goal.  Just like the military, to reach an objective, you hit certain roadblocks, but you’ve got to find a way to get around them to accomplish your goal.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who are the roadblocks?


MR. JACKSON:  Right now the roadblock is not getting our compact ratified.  It’s holding up our people.  When it hasn’t been ratified for a period of time, it impacts our people and our community.  We clothe and feed our people . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just asking a straightforward question:  Who are the roadblocks?  I mean, it’s real simple, right?

MR. C. MONTAGUE:  I think the Quechan Nation plays by the rules and follows everything we’re asked to do.  We do everything asked of us to accomplish our goals and objectives, and we push forward.  This is a process we’re going through where we’re bringing our information in this hearing forward to what we have to do of going through a process to get our compact ratified.


SENATOR FLOREZ:   Are you guys going to answer my question?


MR. READ:  I’ll answer your question.


Last summer, after you returned from your summer break, there were four weeks of session.  That’s when we began the process of trying to get ratification.  Senator Ducheny was the author of a bill and it had two tribes—Yurok and Quechan—and we were asked to separate.  We did that.  I believe that request came from you.  And we had no problem doing that.  We would have stayed together.  It didn’t matter, but we acknowledged that request, so there became two bills.


There was no opposition when we started, and for two weeks we walked the halls every day.  They came up here and virtually lived here for that entire month.  Talked to every single member of this committee and the Assembly G.O. Committee.  Not one person—not one person—said they had any opposition to the compact.  And yet, there was a whisper campaign going on below the surface from some of the other tribes.  In the end, they surfaced and we ended up with some opposition from some of the other tribes.  They were indicating that they thought there was some precedent being set here in this compact that they didn’t like.  And, as we will go through today, we will explain to you there is not new ground being plowed here.  Everything in this compact pretty much exists.  The Fort Yuma compact—a lot of our provisions came from that one which had preceded us and was ratified by the Legislature.  But there was opposition that surfaced, and that did complicate things in terms of getting this passed last summer.  That would have been our hope, but it didn’t happen.  

The Assembly G.O. is where the Ducheny bill is at the moment.  We don’t know whether we’re going to move that or start a new vehicle here.  Our preference is to just move that bill over to this house.  There was some thought in the Assembly among Assembly members that they didn’t want to move it over here because they heard that the Senate was going to kill it.  And I’m just telling you honestly the things that were floating around.  They said, Well, why should we move it out if it’s just going to die in the Senate?  So, we sort of got caught up in all of that.  

But that was yesterday; that was last year.  This is a new day.  We hope that we can proceed forward in a positive way.  We’ve tried to talk to the other tribes and tried to work things out; tried to explain some of the provisions and why we have them and why we don’t believe there’s a negative impact.  But that’s the reality that we face, and some of that opposition may still remain today.  If it does, I hope they come forward and explain it so that we can have a chance to rebut it.  And maybe that’s the good purpose of this hearing today.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I asked that is there’s also some policy implications that this body is looking at.  We have a bill that we’ve moved over to the Assembly.  It talks about how long a compact should be before the Legislature before we, in essence, make a decision.  Mr. Read mentioned the fact that for two weeks, people walked the halls and talked about this.  My own gut reaction is two weeks is too little time to understand these issues, and it’s the reason we’re having this hearing today as a “no vote” hearing.  First we’d like to get a better understanding of not only your compact—and that would include the ’99 Compact and also this new compact and the differential between them—but it also has to do with issues such as the Special Distribution Fund; it has to do with the issues of mitigation of other types of entities surrounding these particular casinos.  These are big issues that I don’t think necessarily the Legislature can do in the last two weeks or even three weeks or four weeks.  I mean, these are issues that we really, I think, in the past have just rushed into, and I’m sorry that you have gotten caught into that.  

So, when you say “roadblocks,” I’m not sure if it’s the process that says the Legislature should understand this much better, or it’s the process that the Governor’s Office had ample time to produce this particular compact much earlier than it did in terms of landing in the Legislature’s in baskets in terms of a memorandum and then being converted over to a bill.  I mean, that is just too short of time for the Legislature to truly digest any compact, period.  So, with no prejudice, I think your compact got caught in that, unfortunately.  And I just wanted to see if you read it that way and to see where you’re at now.

MR. LARRY STIDHAM:  I think in terms of commenting on that, I think it’s important for the Legislature and the Governor to start looking at. . . . oh, I’m sorry.  It’s Larry Stidham.  I’m counsel for the Quechan Tribe.  


I think touching on that issue we agree completely, that in terms of the process, it’s important for the tribes to know what that process is as it works with the Legislature and the Governor, so that there needs to be more communication between the Legislature and the Governor not only on the process but what the terms are:  What is it that the Governor is going to be negotiating?  What is it the Legislature doesn’t like about that?  That’s something that needs to be done between the Legislature and the Governor.  

The Quechan Tribe’s feeling is that we’ve been caught in the middle on that.  We negotiate with the Governor, understanding that’s the role that the Governor has.  In terms of ratifying, that’s your role as the Legislature.  Our concern is that the tribe’s been caught in the middle of that when you disagree on those terms.  Our position is, we negotiated with the Governor.  The terms presented to us are what we negotiated on.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would we disagree on if we don’t have a compact before us.

MR. STIDHAM:  I think that’s correct.  I think, though, in discussions with the Governor, there must be some understanding of what the positions are of the Governor in terms of talking to the tribe. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do we do that?  Through a compact—correct?


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct.  So that in terms of the timeframe, there has to be more time for you.  We completely agree with that.  But in addition, we have, under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, a 180-day requirement.  So, somehow, you have to look at that from the Governor and the Legislature’s standpoint, and how do you make that timeframe work?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I noticed through all that conversation, the thoughts of other tribes never came up.  In other words, I think you started with, There were other tribes in opposition that produced a delay.  And I think what we have just been discussing is the fact that the Governor sends the compacts way too late for the Legislature to digest.  We don’t have it in bill form in a way that would allow us to really, in essence, move this thing forward in a full legislative session—I think you would agree.  This is the start of a full legislative session, and I believe Mr. Read mentioned there’s a bill in the Assembly that allows us to have that discussion.  And yet, I’m not sure what the other tribes have to do with that process.

MR. STIDHAM:  Well, from our perspective, we recognize that each tribe should be able to negotiate its own separate compact and work with the Governor and the Legislature on it.  What bothers us is that each tribe, in looking at these compacts, if they don’t like what’s in the Quechan compact, they freely have the ability to negotiate with the Governor on different terms.  We’ve never taken the position that our compact should be a template for any other tribe.  We should have the right to look at our situation, as explained by President Jackson, and negotiate that compact.  In terms of input by other tribes, we don’t believe that tribes should have input on our compact.  We’re going to stay out of a negotiation by another tribe with the Governor.  We expect other tribes to do the same.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. JACKSON:  We’re here to answer any questions that the committee may have and the other tribes that are present may have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry—you mentioned the word “roadblock,” and I couldn’t let that pass to try and understand.  I mean, you brought it up, I didn’t, so I just wanted to get a better understanding of what those roadblocks were.


MR. JACKSON:  We’re here to answer any questions the committee may have.  

Also, last year when we came here, other compacts were passed.  The legislative process was changed.  We were told constantly every time we made a visit to the State Legislature that they want to get involved in the process.  And we have no problem with that.  That’s why we’re here today.  But time has gone by.  Each day that goes by, we’re not in business, and it affects our community, our reservation, our people.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I would agree with you.  Would you agree with the statement—and I’ve been to many conferences now, I guess, as the new chair of this committee, and I kind of hear frustration by the tribes throughout California that the rules keep changing.  You know, Every time we do something, then there’s a new rule.  There’s a new governor.  There’s a new compact.  There’s a new structure.  I think what we’re trying to do on this committee is create, if you will, a level playing field to let people know that all compacts should be in the Legislature 60, 90 days before we have an opportunity to see them.  They should be in print a certain amount of time.  Every compact should be in its own individual bill.  So, when we set those parameters, I think it makes it easier if people understand the process so no one feels, in essence, left out or feels that the rules are changing.  And I think that’s the purpose of our resolutions, such as SR 20, to try to give everyone an understanding of what we’ll hear and what we won’t hear.


So, I appreciate the comments, but I also want you to know that we’re trying to fix our processes here as much as possible as well so you feel that the rules aren’t always changing and that there is some fairness to them.


MR. JACKSON:  Well, we understand the responsibility of the State Legislature to be involved in all the issues they can to pass a bill that benefits all of California.  This is one such bill that we’re looking for, okay?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. JACKSON:  We’re not criticizing and we’re not calling a blockage, but we’re here today to explain to you why we need our compact passed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. JACKSON:  Thank you.


The annual budget of the Quechan tribal government is 19 million.  The tribe has been able to use the revenues from our casino operations to establish and improve tribal government programs to assist our members, again, with housing, education, and healthcare.  


I’d like to make a point here.  Seventy-seven percent of our tribal annual budgetary needs come direct for our gaming revenues—77 percent.  In addition to funding tribal programs, our tribe provides direct economic assistance to our members in per capita distributions.  However, due to our large tribe membership and the significant amounts necessary to run our tribal government operations, our annual per capita distributions are small.  So, our tribe’s focus is on establishing social services programs to meet our membership’s needs.  The Quechan Tribe did not distribute per capita payment until the fourth year of casino operations as our membership understood our revenue went to building social services programs, infrastructure, elder programs, parks and recreation, educational programs, police department, tribal courts, daycares—which we didn’t have before gaming.


At this time, we’re very proud that we also fund another program, which is the Quechan veterans organization.  Our whole community is very proud of our veterans in all wars and conflicts.  Our tribal membership has answered the call for America.  We have a lot of deceased tribal members who lost their lives in war, and we have some present today.  As I said, we’re very proud of it.  We have answered a call.  We know California’s very strong in veterans, such as our tribe.  We have met the need for our local organization; and our veterans organization, we’re very proud of that.

Right now, if you don’t mind, we have Mr. Gordon Osborn, who’s the head of our veterans organization.


MR. GORDON OSBORN:  Good morning, committee members.  My name is Gordon Osborn, and I’ve got three subjects I want to touch on, and one of them is dealing with our veterans.

Now, as Mr. Jackson has stated, I would like to expand a little bit on it.  We do have a lot of veterans on our reservation, going back as far as the old Calvary.  We have had some of our tribal members that did serve in the Calvary, even in the Spanish-American War, World War I, II, Korea, Vietnam, and the wars that are going on right now.  We do have some of our people that are serving right now in both Afghanistan and Iraq.  We’re very proud of this situation here—what we have with our people.  During the last count that we had in our cemetery, we had well over 200 veterans that are buried there.  Now, that’s a lot of veterans when you really look at it, in a small tribe that we have, which I call “small” in comparison to some of the other towns and cities that we have.  Two hundred veterans that are buried there from various branches of the service and various wars.  

Now, we still have 150 members that are veterans that are still alive.  These veterans do have needs also.  Some suffered from wars or afterwards.  You have diabetes and other functions that happened.  They’ve gone through needing various things for themselves—or medical attention, which the government has not given to them, also, through the VA.  Our tribe has supplemented this through Mr. Jackson’s program in helping these programs to get started.


Well over $200,000 has been donated to the veterans organization.  When I say $200,000, I refer to the building that was given to the veterans organization.  We have also received a van which does take some of our veterans to and from the VA hospitals, also, when needed.  Now, this we did not have in the past.  Our veterans organization was never even thought of at the time.  More or less, we were dependent on the government to supplement everything—the needs that are needed for our veterans nowadays.  But it is a big issue.  I have made trips up here, as I was the district commander for my Thirtieth District out of California as a member of the American Legion Post.  And the needs have always gone on even at that level, that the veterans were forgotten.  Every time I open a paper today, I look at it and I see it refers to the wars today.  What about the veterans of the past?  Where are they?  You have to look at the older veterans.  I for one am also a diabetic.  I have suffered from stuff like that from Agent Orange, and I have to be dependent on them to get my treatment.  And it continues to go on.  

With the funding that we receive from our program, our tribal gaming, it supplements this and helps our veterans, because there are times when our veterans not knowingly need to make these doctors trips and appointments.  And so, with the van we have, we’re able to take our veterans in need to these appointments that are needed.  We have lost veterans before and are deceased now.  So, that is one of the subjects that I wanted to discuss with you.

The second program is our children.  The Quechan Tribe, and with our new administration here, has supplemented also for our children.  We have various programs on the reservation.  I don’t know if very many of you know where the reservation is or even have been there.  We are in an isolated area where it’s desert.  If you’ve ever seen the area, you wonder, How could anybody survive here if there was not a city like Yuma right across the river?  It’s desolate.  And we also consider ourselves the prodigal children of the State because we’ve never had that kind of assistance.  Like we’ve said, the nearest town is 55 miles from where we’re at, but that’s the government seat where we have to do our business.  We want to get a driver’s license, we have to drive 55 miles to get it.  Any other kind of county assistance, we have to drive 55 miles to get it.  Now we’re unable to do that because we don’t have to do it.  Now we have our government.  Through gaming, we’re receiving that assistance for those people that do need it, with a high rate of unemployment.


The main thing is, through the funding of our programs, if you ever get down there and see some of the things that are offered for the children, there are swimming pools, there’s a new education complex, there’s a gymnasium, there’s a new ball field with lights so the children can play there, and these are things that was brought about by gaming.  If you see those, you will get a clearer picture of what I am talking about.  I specifically say the swimming pool.  Because of the Colorado River and some of the irrigation canals that are there, we’ve had drownings, of course, of children which we do not like because you have to go through the burden of traditional funerals.  We don’t like those.


So, with these programs that we do have, the children are able to go to the swimming pool.  It’s got a slide system and everything else, and it’s probably one of the state of the arts which you probably would never see or even imagine sitting on the desert.  And that’s what has been done for our children.

Thirdly is our law enforcement.  As Mr. Jackson has stated, we have had our law enforcement.  We do have our own law enforcement.  We have our own police department which patrols the Arizona portion of the reservation who continually work with the Imperial County Sheriff’s Office.  Some of our officers are cross-deputized with them through our tribal deputy program.  I sit as the chairman of that committee.  With that program, we’re able to work with the various other agencies that are in our area, specifically because our reservation is right up next to the Mexican border.  When I refer to the Mexican border, I refer to Algodones here in Baja California.  You know what the problem is with Baja California now?  It’s drugs.  And we, as far as that goes, it’s zero tolerance also for the reservation.  

Through the programs of Mr. Jackson’s body, they have sanctioned that, where we have worked with various other agencies in having drug raids and so forth.  And when I refer to the other agencies, I’m talking about the Imperial County Sheriff’s Office, the California Highway Patrol, the Border Patrol, U.S. Customs, U.S. Marshal’s Office, the FBI, and everybody else.  We’re in conjunction working with these people in order to curtail this problem, which there is a big problem.  


With that, I leave it with you, and I thank you for this chance to speak to you.


MR. JACKSON:  As Mr. Osborn said, we’ve been organizing our tribal government for many years, long years, and other tribes in California.  Gordon’s our chairman of our law enforcement committee.  They have asked him to go to other tribes in California to help establish tribal courts and police departments.  Our committee went to help other tribes in California.  So, we’re here to assist other tribes also.


Thank you, Mr. Gordon.


In addition, the Quechan Tribe has the following improvement projects that have been completed or are under construction:  sewer and water infrastructure, education complex, Tribal Administration Building expansion, Quechan Diabetes Walking Park, Yuma-Quechan East Wetlands Restoration project, Quechan Nature Park, irrigation project, the Senior Nutrition Center, a new 150-unit housing project.  And plans for the future are a vocational training center for our members, a tribal library, fire station, a new tribal court building, a new Indian health services hospital.  The tribe will use casino revenue to add a dialysis center to provide treatment for our tribal members who are afflicted with diabetes and need dialysis.  We also supplement the special diabetes program by funding the Wellness Center and help to fund the walking park.  

Mr. Brian Golding, our economic developer, is here, and he’d like to expand on this, if we may.

MR. BRIAN GOLDING:  Good morning, committee members.  Thank you for this opportunity.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me interrupt you before you start.  Let’s go ahead and establish a quorum if we could.


[Roll call.]


The quorum is established.  Go ahead.


MR. GOLDING:  Thank you.  Again, my name’s Brian Golding, Sr.  I’m the tribe’s economic development director.  


What the president has just described is an approximately 110- to 120-million-dollar capital improvements program that the tribe’s embarking on.  We’re looking at all of these types of projects in the next five to seven years.  Approximately 65 to 70 million of that is programmed to be coming out of tribal gaming revenues.  We’re excited about the fact that the development of our new education complex is nearing completion—at the end of March.  That’s 33,000 square feet on five acres, consolidating our Head Start, tribal daycare, and after-school supplemental tutoring programs.  We’re also going to start construction likely in June of our new senior nutrition complex.  That’ll be about 16,000 square feet of facility, promoting togetherness with our seniors and good nutrition to take care of their needs.  

But we need to get moving forward with this, and your assistance and the assistance of your complementary house will help us to achieve this dream of getting these projects built.  The sewer and the water treatment plants are necessary in order for us to provide a dialysis center for the many of our people who are suffering from this disease of diabetes.  So, we would appreciate your assistance, and thank you again for this opportunity.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. JACKSON:  Our Tribal Council has set aside a large budget for our tribal elders.  They get to travel all over America.  Things they had never seen before in the past—they’ve only seen in magazines or in the newspaper or on TV—now they get to see in person.  They like that idea.  We sent them to Hawaii twice.  They love it.  Our elders go to Hawaii.  We send them there to see the things they want to see before they pass away.  That’s what they told us.  So, we know how to treat our elders.  Things they’d never seen, like I said, before, they’re getting the opportunity to do that.  And that’s very important to us.


The tribe has pursued an amendment to our current compact in order to develop an expanded casino and hotel resort in a location that has more conducive market conditions.  The tribe has strived through its various economic development projects, like Brian has spoke of—including our casino—to develop the revenue to provide the basic necessities for our members, as well as additional sources of economic development to continue our tribal government growth in order to continue to support our members.  Existing funding is already insufficient, and the situation will only continue to worsen with each cut in funding from federal programs, as has been mentioned.  External revenue sources are either unavailable or not feasible due to the tribe’s remote location.  The tribe has staked its future survival on the ratification of our amended compact.

Right now I’d like to introduce our comptroller, Mr. Espino.  He wants to talk to you about where we’re at in our future development of our new casino and resort—the funding; where it’s coming from and how we came about this.


Mr. Espino?


MR. FRANK ESPINO:  Good morning, committee members.  My name is Frank Espino.  I’m the comptroller for the Quechan Indian Tribe.  I’m the only nonmember traveling with the councilmen and other members of the tribe.


Although I’m not a council member and I’m not a tribal member, the belief and striving to contribute my part of the continued development of the tribe—protecting their assets, seeing how much money we have and how much money we need for all these projects that are upcoming—it’s been about five years’ participation with the tribe, and there’s been a tremendous amount of vision to see into the future.  I think we want to express that in this casino project.  About 67 percent of it is going to happen through loans and bonds.  The tribe is going to contribute the rest.  Therefore, it’s 100 percent funding and working as a project with the tribe.  It’s imperative in regards to obtaining the goals of building the infrastructure for the tribe with the passing of this amendment to the compact.

Thank you very much for allowing me to comment.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr. Espino.


The tribe has relied upon the Governor’s agreement and the course of dealings between the State of California and the California Indian tribes in the expectation that the Governor was the State’s representative authorized to negotiate and execute a Tribal-State compact.  Any further delay is unwarranted, unfair, to our tribe.  The Legislature should ratify our amended compact according to the terms of the agreement.


We appreciate this opportunity to provide testimony to the members of the committee and look forward to any questions you may have.  The Quechan Tribe realizes and respects that each tribe holds their own independent sovereignty.  We have negotiated in good faith with the State for the best deal possible to fit the needs of our people and our location.  Our intention was never to interfere nor set any negative precedence for other tribes to amend their respective compacts.  The Quechan Tribe respects other tribes and expects the same in return.  Our proud nation is seeking ratification of our compact to feed and clothe our people and bring about a future so we can stand on our own, so our children may have a future, but we shouldn’t forget our ancestors and the legacy they have left for us.  Information provided by the Quechan Nation today is a testimony of how Indian gaming works for our people and other tribes in the State of California.

This concludes my statement on our compact, but I’d like to have Ms. Uribe here with closing statements and Mr. Felix Montague.


Ms. Uribe?


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  If I may.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you like to hold your closing comments until we get through some questions, or do you want to end it?


MR. JACKSON:  Yes, we want to end it before we get the questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Go ahead.


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  Many of you turned back the pages of time to read about the history of California.  Today I ask you to look at the faces that sit before you.  We are living artifacts of the ancient people who started California.  By enterprise, our rich culture includes the opening of a gateway to California from across the Colorado River on the backs of our ancestors who swam ferries of people and livestock across the raging river.  We are not greedy people.  We have always shared the means of survival with many who have come across our paths.  The main sustenance of our Quechan people is our land and the natural resources that have been bestowed upon our people from the Highest Power.


As our ancient ancestors have lived in the past, we still live today with the importance of preserving our customs and traditions that make up the survival of our Quechan people.  My Quechan people have opened the gateway that you all benefit from today—now—as Californians.  Our history cannot be forgotten or erased.  Our Quechan ancestors created this ferry enterprise out of necessity in order to survive.  We as a tribe continue in the sacred trails set by our ancestors to provide for our Quechan generations, from our Quechan land, with the use of our natural resources.


Though we are not a financially rich tribe, my people are proud.  Come and see their faces.  We invite all of you.  Meet the Quechan from the eldest to the youngest.  These are the more than 3,000 souls that now look to you to respect our traditions of survival.  Come sit in a mud home and chat.  Feel our earth between your toes.  You are always welcome.  That is our way.  


Even in these times the Quechan survives.  With our elders’ blessings, many good things have blossomed from the growth of our tribe.  The most recent enterprise:  Paradise Casino.  Many of our children have real hopes and dreams.  With gaming, we are now able to address the real needs of our people.  Those needs can no longer go ignored.  

We want to know with certainty that the State of California is negotiating in good faith with our tribe.  With certainty, we can say that the tribe has negotiated in good faith with the State of California.  We have followed all of the rules set by IGRA.  However, the goalposts seem to move further away from reality.  You are here to listen so that you can act on the ratification of our amendment to the Tribal-State gaming compact of the Quechan Tribe.  Though opposition may have come from other tribes regarding our compact, we as a nation shall respect their opinions.  However, together—State and tribe—we must do for our members what is best for the Quechan Tribe.  

I thank you for your time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. F. MONTAGUE:  In closing, I’d like to just make a statement to the fact that in all the years that I’ve lived on the reservation, all the efforts that have been made by State, county, federal government to improve our living conditions to some degree have helped but in most cases have failed.  And since Indian gaming has come on the scene, you can see the difference.  It has really impacted our economic way of life.  We only look forward to the future.  Our children are our future resource, and you can’t see a better investment of our gaming dollars being applied to the concept of developing our children’s education.

I’d like to borrow a line from the Fraternal Order of Eagles.  The Eagles organization, in closing, one of their precepts is:  “Although the world may scoff and jest, a life of service is the best; and happiness will always be to him who serves humanity.”  And I’d like to leave you with that.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.


MR. JACKSON:  Thank you for allowing the Quechan to speak to you today.  If there’s any comments from any tribes in opposition, we’d like a chance to make comment and rebut those comments, please.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Of course.  We have an open period for that at the end of the hearing.  No problem.


Mr. Chairman, I do have some questions.  I’m not sure—you have a whole bunch of folks coming up and back to the dais, so as you need, please feel free to call any of those folks up.


The first question I’d have for you is, when you entered the ’99 Compact—you kind of talk about the financial, the economic, and the social goals.  Have those all been met by the ’99 Compact, in your mind?


MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Golding?


MR. GOLDING:  The Quechan Tribe entered into that compact with the idea that that would be a springboard into entering a new enterprise and to attracting much needed capital to the reservation.  As Mr. Montague spoke earlier of, it was one of the failures of prior economic development efforts on our reservation.  So, in that sense, entering into the ’99 Compact and the goals of the tribe have been met.  However, through the findings of recent marketing studies, we’ve investigated the possibility of expanding, and we have found that there is an expanding market.  The Yuma region has seen, as many other areas in California, phenomenal growth and an influx of population, and frankly, we want to access that.

So, again, in response to your question, many of the goals of the tribe at the time of the negotiation of the ’99 Compact have been met.  But like most plans and most goals, they change as the environment changes and expands.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. STIDHAM:  The major flaw with the ’99 Compact is the licensing situation where you have a certain number of licenses to be able to have a certain number of machines.  That compact served its purpose for us, but there’s no more ability to get additional machines.  The tribe basically took the 350, but there’s no more machines available—or licenses available in the pool.  So, in order for us to expand, we had to negotiate another compact in order to get additional machines.  So, the ’99 Compact does not serve our purposes now in terms of being able to expand.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s 349 or 350?


MR. STIDHAM:  It’s 350 that you’re allowed.  We’re operating 349, to be honest with you, so we can retain the dollars that come from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I want to ask you some questions about that in a minute.  


So, you’re at 349 in order to—?


MR. STIDHAM:  To receive revenue sharing trust funds.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in the new compact, will you be paying into that Revenue Sharing Trust Fund?


MR. STIDHAM:  We will be paying into that Revenue Sharing Trust Fund once we have a $75 million net.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what is your expectation?  The press release said 59 million.  Do you ever then pay into it?  You’ve received from it.  The Governor’s thought in his release was it should reach 59 million.  You don’t have to pay anything until you get to 75 million.  So, the question is:  Do you ever have to pay into it?


MR. STIDHAM:  Sure.  In terms of the early projections, we would start out between 800 and 900 machines.  Probably, we would not be paying into it for four or five years.  We have in our amended compact the ability to go up to 1,100 machines.  If we do well and we move to 1,100 machines, there’s an expectation that we would go above the $75 million net.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, you won’t be paying into it for four or five years.


MR. STIDHAM:  Projectionwise, we wouldn’t expect to make any payments for four or five years.  But Senator, what we were looking at is every dollar that goes to the State, every dollar that goes to another tribe, does not go to meet the extreme needs of this tribe, and that’s why it was set up like that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m going to have some questions on that, more precise questions on that, in a moment.


MR. JACKSON:  That’s why we said 77 percent of our gaming revenue goes into our tribal budget right now—77 percent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you’re receiving dollars from the Revenue Trust Fund now.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That will be gone but not gone for a five-year period.

MR. STIDHAM:  No.  We won’t be receiving the $1.1 million once this compact goes into place.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What percentage of the revenues is that compared to your current gaming revenue?


MR. STIDHAM:  I’m sorry, in terms of—?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What percentage is the 1.5?  Of the current dollars that are coming in, what percentage of that is. . . . you mentioned gaming revenue being 77 percent.  What’s the 1.5 million in terms of the dollars that are coming in from the revenue?


MR. STIDHAM:  Of the net revenues of the gaming operations?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mm hmm.


MR. STIDHAM:  I can get that for you.  I don’t have an answer for that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Could you?  At some point we’ll get to that.


So, the bottom line is, the ’99 Compact met your expectations—financially, socially, economic developmentwise.  But today . . .


MR. STIDHAM:  Except for the ability to expand because there’s no more licenses available in the pool.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so, the goal now is to, in the new bill—the Ducheny bill—coming over, is to allow for an expansion of those particular slots.


MR. STIDHAM:  We would be able to go up to 1,100 gaming machines, which we’re not able to do under the current compact.


MR. JACKSON:  The small casino we have now is in a bad location.  We want to move it along the freeway—Interstate 8, which is on tribal land—to make use of the freeway traffic.  That’s why we want to amend our compact and ask for more machines.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, you go up to about 850.  Is that correct?  The new compact allows you to go up to 1,100, but your plan calls for 850 slots.


MR. JACKSON:  We’ll just start with 900 and move up to 1,100.  Whatever the market study dictates, that’s what we’re going to do.  You know, we go by our professional market study.  We’re not going to over-expand unless our market study dictates that we do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why the cap?  The Governor’s other compacts are unlimited.  Why would you agree to 1,100?  In other words, the first ’99 Compact said, It doesn’t allow us to grow, and now you’ve entered into a new compact that says, 1,100 is sufficient.  So, does that mean in six years from now you’ll be coming back and saying, Well, 1,100 wasn’t sufficient either; so therefore, we’re going to need to amend the amended compact, versus some of the other compacts that the Legislature has passed which are unlimited?  Which doesn’t mean, I think, that people would come back to the Legislature for an expansion, given that they’re unlimited.  Why would you do that?

MR. JACKSON:  The Quechan Tribe, we’re never going to have unlimited machines.  We’re never going to ask for that.  Again, whatever our professional market study dictates . . . 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, you’re saying you’re never going to ask for that.  Remember we’re on the record.  Be real careful about that.  In other words, like ten years from now, somebody else sitting here, he’s going to say, Well, wait a minute.  You said here on this date that you’d never come back for more.  I mean, I just want to make sure we’re clear.  It’s not criticism on the number that you’ve reached, but I’m just trying to understand the difference between the compact that you’ve signed versus some of the compacts that I’ve seen which are unlimited in terms of cap.  You’re capping yourself and in ’99 you capped yourself at 349, and here we find ourselves here today.  It’s just a threshold question.  You signed the compact, so what was the rationale for that?


MR. JACKSON:  Like we stated before, the location of our tribe where we’re at.  The compact we’re amending now is for the term of our compact.  That’s what we’re looking at.  It’s never going to go any bigger and any larger than that.


MR. STIDHAM:  I can answer a little bit of that.  In terms of how it was negotiated, we were trying to negotiate a smaller amount being paid to the State based on the size of the tribe, and one of the negotiation positions taken by the Governor was, Well, if you’ll agree to a certain cap, then that will be a consideration in getting the lesser fee.  That, I think, answers your question straightforwardly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, to understand that mechanism—and I know we’re moving to the new compact—but so I can understand the difference, you agreed to that because, in essence, it’s a lesser fee to the State based on your cap.


MR. STIDHAM:  Yes.  Part of the negotiations was that If you’re willing to accept a cap on the machines, then we’ll consider the lowering of the fees.  That’s part of the negotiations that occurred.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But isn’t part of that deal also that you have to reach a threshold of 75 million before you make a payment to the State?  


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s on the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  We do pay into the General Fund based on the net win.  As you see in the grid there that we talked about, we expect to be in the 50- to 100-million-dollar net win, but remember, that’s for the General Fund payment.  The Revenue Sharing Trust Fund payment is based on the 75 million net.  We begin making payments under that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  We’ll get to that.  I’m sorry, I’m skipping ahead.


Go ahead.


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Plus, in our negotiations, we wanted to show responsibility that we weren’t there to saturate the market.  Our market studies showed that we were going to be between 800 and 900 machines.  That was part of our discussions and negotiations.  We didn’t want to just say we’re going to have unlimited machines and expand past our market.  We wanted to show some type of responsibility also.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why not?  Why would you cap yourself?  You would exercise that responsibility financially on your own decision.  Why would you put a cap into something that you yourself would make the decision on?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  We felt that would show some type of responsibility.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But the Legislature has passed other compacts with unlimited slots.  So, why would we feel any differently today, then, on yours?


MR. JACKSON:  The fact that we’re a rural tribe, in a rural setting, like Mr. Felix Montague said.  You guys—we’ll go down and see where we’re at.  That’s all we’re going to need for the future, and that’s all we’re asking.  We’re not a greedy tribe.  That will satisfy our needs.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did you offer that, or did the Governor’s Office offer that cap?


MR. JACKSON:  We asked for up to 1,100 machines, like Mr. Montague said—depending on our market study.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did the Governor’s Office offer unlimited?  Did they say, Is unlimited on the table, and you guys decided 1,100?  Or did the Governor say, You have to cap it at some point?  You guys come up with the cap.


MR. JACKSON:  Definitely not.  If he offered unlimited machines, we would have said yes.  But we’ll never ask for unlimited machines in the location we have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, let me understand that answer.  If they had offered unlimited machines, you would have done unlimited machines; but given there was some sort of cap, you decided, based on your market studies, that this would be the appropriate cap at this point in time.

MR. JACKSON:  Exactly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. STIDHAM:  In return for a cut in the payments that we were making and the adjustment on the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  In terms of the current MOU you have with Imperial County, what’s that look like?  How much is the tribe paying?  Mitigation.  County.  What are the economics of that MOU?


MR. STIDHAM:  In terms of the MOU, what we did is we followed the outline or the requirements of the environmental mitigation requirements that are in the new compact.  What we did is we looked at what had been suggested in the past, in the first five compacts that came out, and we negotiated with the county under those terms.  So, what we’ve done is we’ve negotiated Caltrans dollars, and we’ve also negotiated payments to the county based on their needs for, I think, the sheriff’s department—where we are going to bring in five more members.  I think it was around $300,000 for the sheriff’s department.  We haven’t finished negotiations with the public defender’s office and the district attorney’s, but that’s basically a supplement of less than $100,000.  And then we looked at in terms of the transportation.  There aren’t any county roads being impacted here, so we’re not talking about any dollars going into the county for road improvements.  The major road improvement is Caltrans with an overpass, and I think that was around $8½ million.  


MR. JACKSON:  To finish up with the county—those issues you’re talking about—one is the fire department.  We’re really looking into that.  Mr. Gordon Osborn of our construction committee has been working with them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s okay.  I don’t need the specifics.  I just want to know that that mitigation process—did it work or not?

MR. STIDHAM:  It worked very well for us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the model for the next expansion, is that type of discussion model?

MR. STIDHAM:  It’s completed.  We did an environmental document.  We sent it out to the Clearinghouse.  We got the responses.  That process worked well for us.  We had negotiations with the county.  That off-reservation mitigation agreement was based on the environmental—the TEIR—that we had submitted through the State Clearinghouse, provided to the State.  Received very little comment on that.  And we worked with both the irrigation districts.  We worked with the county—the fire, the police.  All that worked very well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.

Let’s talk about the amended compact of 2006.  The Governor’s announcement on the completion of your compact stated—and I’ll quote from it:  “The tribe plans to relocate its current gaming facility to the new location and operate 850 slot machines there.”


Is that correct?


MR. JACKSON:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just trying to get it for the record so I can understand.


You then planned, you mentioned earlier, on operating 850 slot machines, and you mentioned the compact allows a maximum of 1,100.  Correct?


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When do you expect the 850 slots to, in essence, be operational, given if the compact was voted successfully by the Legislature?  When are those 850 operational?


MR. JACKSON:  To get our compact ratified, we’re going to start construction immediately.  


Mr. Gordon Osborn, do you want to go ahead and answer that question?


MR. OSBORN:  That’s one of the things we’ve been negotiating with also.  We do have a contractor on hand, sitting down and talking to him from time to time and trying to lay out an outline.  We also have an architect also on board.  These people have given us drawings, so to say.  Something we’re not in concrete yet but drawings which we can look at.  These have been going on from time to time in order just to let him know that they are still interested and so are we.  We want to stay in touch with these people, but as far as this goes, we still have to take care of business here.  And once that’s done, you know, as long as we’ve got those people on board, we can go forward with this thing.


MR. JACKSON:  Our plans are on hold.  They’re finalized.  We just have to get him word to start construction.  Our funding is secure.  Everything’s on hold until we get this compact ratified.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’ve done some financial model, it says.  When the Legislature ratifies your compact, there are so many days when 850 slots become operational.  That was the number you utilized, so when is the date?  That’s all.


MR. STIDHAM:  Construction is usually 18 to 24 months.  Our problem is that we cannot get funding for the construction until there’s certainty on the compact.  That’s the lending issue that we have.  So, once we know that it’s coming out of the Legislature, we’ll be able to get funding.  And we estimate, once we get funding, it’s 18 to 24 months.  As we’ve talked about before, there’s extreme heat in the summer here, so that in terms of construction, it has to be timed so that we can do the building in terms of the steel, the structure, all of that, in the cool months, so that we can put a roof up so that we can work in the summer.  If we don’t meet that—say the compact comes out in June—we’re not going to be able to start construction until it cools down.  So, it’s a timing aspect of that.  Eighteen to twenty-four months if we can start in the cool season.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  


MR. OSBORN:  One thing I’d like to expand on also, what Larry just said.  Material is hard to come by sometimes, especially during the heat down there like we were talking about earlier.  If none of you have ever been down there during the summer months, it can get up to 120 degrees or better.  Nobody wants to mess with steel in 120-degree weather. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Two years after the compact is ratified by the Legislature is when 850 slots will become operational.  Is that right?  Two years from now.


COUNCILMEMBER URIBE:  Approximately.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m just trying to get an approximation.  We’re here to talk about a compact we’re going to ratify, so one of the most important things is when does it become operational?


So, given that, then, your cap is 1,100?


UNIDENTIFIED:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you going to be transferring the current 350 machines?


MR. JACKSON:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, you’re going to, then, only really going to be adding 500.  Is that correct?  Eight hundred fifty, so you’re transferring 350 . . . 


MR. JACKSON:  It will save us money by keeping the machines we have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are those machines leased, or are they owned by the tribe, the original 350?


MR. JACKSON:  The original 350 right now?  Charles?  I believe they’re on a lease program right now, all of the machines.  Correct, Charles?

MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Approximately 15 percent of our floor is participation.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s leased.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fifteen percent?


MR. STIDHAM:  Yes, about 15 percent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that that 15 percent of the 350 is leased, the other is owned by the tribe?

MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Yes, we purchased.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the additional 500 that you’re going to be adding, is that going to be leased or owned?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  We’ll approximately keep about the same percentage of WAP to participation on the floor—about 15 percent—and we’ll purchase approximately about 600/700 machines.


MR. STIDHAM:  Not all machines are available for purchase.  There are certain types of very popular machines that the manufacturer won’t sell.  We mentioned participation.  That’s really leasing.  They won’t sell those, but you enter into a participation agreement.  So, they’re leased for a period of time where they share in the gross revenues.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Also in the Governor’s announcement that I mentioned earlier, it said—and I’ll quote:  “ . . . anticipates that the new facility will generate around 59 million in net win annually.”


Is that correct?


MR. STIDHAM:  I think that’s probably accurate when we get started.  We’re hoping to expand that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And under the ’99 Compact. . . . well, let me ask a question about the 59 million.  So, the Governor says 59 million is kind of the anticipated number.  You’re saying that you hope to go substantially further than that.  Is that correct?


MR. JACKSON:  That’s correct, yes.  That’s the hope.  Any business, you want to do a lot better than when you started.  We want to grow into our casino operation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you get to 75 million at some point in terms of you growing?  You just mentioned you want to go higher.  The Governor’s mentioned 59 million.  There is a $75 million threshold in terms of participation.  When do you get to 75 million?


MR. JACKSON:  Well, we can’t answer that question.  When our clientele builds up.  The main thing in a rural setting, we have to do so much more.  We have to develop a professional market department to bring in our clientele to visit our casino.  You’re asking for a date when we’re going to reach 77 million.  We can’t answer that question.  That’s for the future to dictate, not us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How did the Governor get the 59 million then?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Based on our market study, it said we’d be able to support around 850 machines.  We took a number of approximately 201 per device.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What was it?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Two hundred one per device.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Two hundred and one?


MR. C. MONTAGUE:  Yes, per device.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just do some quick math then.  So, that would mean that at 201. . . . you have 850 machines, and you have 365 days.  That would give you just under 75 million.  Is that right?  So, you wouldn’t be at 59 million.  You’d already be at 75.  You’d be close to 75 million.

MR. JACKSON:  Well, if it is, that’s fine with us.  The more we make, the happier we are.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m just wondering how the Governor got his 59, given your 201.


MR. JACKSON:  Maybe he calculated wrong.  I don’t know.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.


MR. ESPINO:  I’m sorry—if I may address that?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. ESPINO:  I think one of the things was, on the expansion, we were taking current pay per machine and then reducing it because of dilution factor and growing into market.  We also had to project on a conservative basis. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  Is the 201 number that you just used, is that low in terms of net win per day, per machine?


MR. STIDHAM:  It depends on what region you’re in.  A 201 win per unit is probably low if you are in a more, what I would call, urban setting.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about for you?


MR. STIDHAM:  In a rural setting, that’s high.  This is high for us.  Two-oh-one is high for us in terms of the win per unit.  The marketing study really reflected somewhere around. . . . I think the marketing was around 170, something in there, and that’s where they came up with the 59.  It’s a fairly simple formula.  You look at the number of machines, multiply it by a win per unit, per day, and then multiply that by 365.  That gives you the gross. . . . the net revenue.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you for the economics.  That helps me a little bit understand the 850, the 350, the additional 500 slots, and the cap of 1,100.  So, that suffices for us to understand a little bit about economics.


MR. STIDHAM:  And that’s based on a market study analysis that the tribe prepared before it went into the negotiations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  Let’s go to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, if we could.  Under the ’99 Compact, as you guys mentioned earlier, you talked about the tribe being considered as a noncompact tribe.  That’s correct.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that is because you operated less than 350 gaming devices that allowed that designation.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how much did the tribe receive in terms of revenue sharing trust funds?  How much?


MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Espino?


MR. ESPINO:  In 2005, we received approximately $1.2 million.  The year before it was right at a million dollars.  And the prior year was less than a million dollars.  I think we’re budgeting for a million dollars, depending on what they pay out.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In addition to the revenue that you mentioned earlier—77 percent of all the revenue—based on the 350 machines currently?  Or is that a mixed blend between Arizona and California?


MR. JACKSON:  That’s a mixed blend.


MR. STIDHAM:  No.  Wait.  Could you ask that question again?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  The 77 percent of all the revenue you mentioned earlier—as we look at this compact, we’re trying to decide:  Is that California revenue?  Is that Arizona revenue?  And ultimately, is that 77 percent a blend of both states?  Or could we decipher out California’s portion of revenue from that?


MR. ESPINO:  The 77 percent of the tribal operating budget—19 million—comes from the casino, and that’s a blend of both states.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would the California percentage look like?


MR. ESPINO:  About 16 to 17 million.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s the net revenue for the California side.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What was the percentage?  I’m sorry.

MR. ESPINO:  No, that was dollars.  You want percentage?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MR. ESPINO:  I’d have to calculate the percentage.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’ll ask some more questions.  Maybe you can calculate it for us.


The Revenue Sharing Trust Fund—was that helpful to the tribe in terms of the total revenue coming in?  You mentioned 77 percent coming from gaming.  But how helpful was the revenue sharing trust funds, and what was the real purpose?  What was it used for?

MR. JACKSON:  Like we stated before, all the infrastructure programs and projects that are currently underway—what we have completed and what’s in the future.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you believe the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund is a fair method of distributing the proceeds to nongaming tribes, given that you’ve participated in that?


MR. JACKSON:  Given the opportunity that some tribes have a bad location or not in the gaming, yes it is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you actually have a casino and slot machines, though.  Correct?


MR. JACKSON:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But technically, you’re considered a nongaming tribe because you’re under the 350 limit.  You’re okay with that?


MR. JACKSON:  That’s fine.  We didn’t create that language.  We didn’t establish that.  The Governor’s State compact did.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I understand that.


MR. JACKSON:  We agreed to it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just trying to get your thoughts on that.  And so, you’re fine with that.


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.  We have no problem with that because right now we’re in our infancy of economic development.  We’re just getting started, and we need all the funds we can get.  We told you where we put all our funds.  We’re a very conservative tribe with the spending of our dollars and putting it right back into our community.  Every dollar counts, what we get, and putting it right back in our community.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  As you mention, then, every dollars counts.  These dollars are of value to you, and yet, under the new compact, you’ll be receiving none of those dollars.  Correct?


MR. JACKSON:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you’re not going to receive any of those dollars for a four- or five-year period—I think that was mentioned?


MR. STIDHAM:  We won’t receive any of those dollars once this compact goes into place.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Under the new compact, you’re not required to make any payment to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.


MR. STIDHAM:  Until we reach a $75 million net.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Unless you reach a $75 million net.  And the Governor’s release says you’ll only get to 59.  So, I guess it tells me that you’ll never pay into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.

MR. STIDHAM:  Well, I can’t speak for the Governor on that, but our expectation is, when we start out that will be the number—59 million.  After a four- or five-year period of time, we fully expect to be at that point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But remember, you just mentioned earlier the Governor’s number was high.  So, in other words, the 201—or the 249 per slot, per day, per week is high.  So, it may not even get to 59 million, according to, I think, your testimony.  In essence, if that’s high, and the Governor has set the standard so high that you never even get close to 59 million—yet, the bar of participating, helping the other tribes without any gaming at all, is 75 million—then how does this committee know that you ever get to participate in a fund that you yourself participated in when you were considered a nongaming tribe?  That’s a really important question, I think, for some of us here.

MR. STIDHAM:  I can take a crack at establishing that.  I don’t know where the 59 million dollar came from, but if you look at 850 machines, multiply that by 175, times 365, you get at 55 million.  So, it’s somewhere between 175 and 180.  That’s the win per unit.  The marketing study indicates to us that’s where we’re going to hit when we start out.  Usually there’s an expansion of business.  As Imperial County is going to continue to grow, we’re going to be able to grow our business, and at some point in time, we’re hoping four or five years out we will hit that 75-million-dollar mark.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I won’t dispute your math, but I have, maybe, a different number in terms of how we get to 75 million, and that seems to be based on $242 per day, per win.


MR. STIDHAM:  Times 1,100 machines.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, times 850 machines.


MR. STIDHAM:  In terms of reaching the 75 million, we won’t reach that with 850.  That would be an expansion of 1,100 machines.  We’d have to, after a number of years, go up to 1,100 and then, at that point in time, hit the 75 million.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And if you go to 1,100, your net win per day, per machine would be $187.  Does that sound right to you?  That’s exactly what gets you to 75 million.


MR. STIDHAM:  There’s no way to predict exactly how that’s going to work, but that’s certainly within the realm of possibility based on the marketing study and the amenities that will be provided in this casino.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that’s your threshold, then, to get to 75 million, you just told me it takes two years to get to 850.  And so, to get to 1,100, how many years is it, then, that you aren’t participating in the Special Distribution Fund to get to the 1,100?  How many years out is that?


MR. STIDHAM:  We won’t ever participate in the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund in terms of receiving, but in terms of paying into that . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, I’m talking about paying into.  I’m not talking about receiving.


MR. STIDHAM:  It could very well be ten years, or in terms of the market, it could be no years.  I mean, in terms of our negotiations with the State, our point was, every dollar that goes to the State, goes to other tribes, doesn’t go to us.  And that was the concern we had in terms of negotiating, what we call, the “effective rate” in terms of looking at that compact.  So that in terms of dollars going to the nongaming tribes, there’s certainly going to be a period of time before they receive any money from us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that would be your thought in terms of the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s right.  That was part of the negotiations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I know we’re going through some line of questions, but sergeant, if you’d let the members know we’ll be voting on SR 20 at 11:15, that would give people ample opportunity.  So, if we could call the members, that would be wonderful.  And we may interrupt this, I think as I mentioned at the beginning of the hearing, to take a vote on that.  


Let me just close on that and ask you the question for the record:  From your perspective only, what type of message do you think that the tribe is sending by having been a nongaming recipient and yet now participating in a compact structure where you may not—using your words—ever have to pay into that particular type of fund?  Is that just the structure of the compact, and that’s just the way it goes?  Or do you have a certain feeling on being a recipient and then being successful now with 1,100-plus slots and never reaching a point where you then participate in the very fund that you yourself have relied on?


MR. JACKSON:  You’re stating that we’re never going to reach that goal.  Most likely we will in the near future.  We can’t say when.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, which one is it?  Your attorney just said he doesn’t know if we’ll ever reach it.


MR. JACKSON:  We’re hoping to because success will bring us that.  We don’t know.  Everything, like I said, depends on our professional market study.  But what we’re at right now is our compact.  Our amended compact we’re asking for is to meet the unmet needs of our people.  We support other tribes and their endeavors.  We’ll never oppose that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  I think we’re just talking about your compact today.  We don’t want to talk about other tribes.  Let’s keep it focused on your compact and the economics of your compact so we can understand this, whether it’s beneficial as a whole, particularly as those who participate in the Special Distribution Fund.  I mean, I think you want to keep it there today, right?

MR. JACKSON:  Right.  And our goal, again, was to educate the Governor on our rural setting, our large population, and this is what we came up with.  Like I said before, we negotiated this compact for our people, thinking about our people.  We’re the ones that have to feed and clothe our people and for our future.  The other tribes will get the opportunity to go in and negotiate and amend their compact.  We’ll support them.


MR. STIDHAM:  I think in terms of the negotiation process, one of the things when we sat down with the Governor is that There’s going to be “X” amount of dollars going into the General Fund.  We tried to get a lower amount because every dollar, like we said, that goes to the State does not go to the tribe.  And our concern was the balance:  What is it that we’re going to be paying?  We’re paying a lot to the General Fund.  In terms of paying to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, we have to make sure that this works economics-wise for the project itself.  Our negotiations then—if we have to pay “X” into the General Fund, then we’re not going to have enough money available to pay into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund until we reach a certain level.  That’s the choice we made in terms of negotiations.  That’s how it’s presented to us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Let’s talk about the Special Distribution Fund, if we could.  My understanding, the amended compact—the compact currently before us—there are no longer any payments to that fund.  Is that correct—under this compact structure?


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct, but we weren’t paying into the Special Distribution Fund under our ’99 Compact.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, you weren’t paying anything under the ’99 Compact as well.


MR. STIDHAM:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that fund pays for gaming addiction, State and local impacts, State Gaming Agency and Department of Justice costs, payments for shortfall in revenues to the trust fund itself.  What’s your thought—paying into these types of endeavors from this compact?


MR. STIDHAM:  I think in terms of making those types of payments—once again, in terms of negotiations, we’re presented with “X” amount of dollars going into the General Fund.  The issue of whether we pay into the SDF wasn’t raised with us since we hadn’t paid into it before.  If there wants to be a carve-out of the dollars that we pay into the General Fund either negotiated by the Legislature or the Governor, that’s fine with us.  But what we looked at is:  How much, in total, are we paying to the State?  How the State decides how it wants to allocate those dollars is up to the State.  We’re not going to interfere with that.  If the Legislature wants to say “X” amount of dollars that we provide to the General Fund or some percentage now goes to the Special Distribution Fund, that’s fine with us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  State’s decision.


MR. STIDHAM:  It’s a State decision.  We don’t control how you spend that money.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  


Senator Vincent.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  The one gentleman, you kept using the term “our people, our people.”  What is “our people?”  Are you talking about your tribe or all the tribes?


MR. JACKSON:  Our tribe.  We negotiate the amended compact we have for our Quechan people.


SENATOR VINCENT:  That’s not what I’m saying.  When you use the term “our people,” are you talking about just your tribe or all the tribes?


MR. JACKSON:  Our tribe.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Just your tribe.


MR. JACKSON:  Yes, our tribe.


SENATOR VINCENT:  That even more solidifies my thinking.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chairman, if I could interrupt you at this brief point.  I only have a few more questions on the other provisions of the compact, but I do want to respect the fact that we have to take a vote on this at 11:15, and by the time I walk down there and present, it’ll be about that time.  So, if I could just ask you to hold for a moment to let us take up this Senate resolution, then we’ll move forward.


MR. JACKSON:  Okay.


[Presentation and vote on SR 20.]

[Informational hearing resumed.]


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I know that should clear the room for some who are interested in the compact ahead of us now.  So, let’s come on back up, Mr. Chairman, and we’ll begin.


Mr. Chairman, thank you for allowing us that, which I thought was going to be a shorter break, but I appreciate that very much.

If we could go back to the amended compact itself—under the amended compact, there is an agreement with Caltrans for work with the state highway system, and there’s also an Imperial County off-reservation impact and, as you mentioned earlier, law enforcement, fire protection, and emergency services.  How are these agreements reached?  The same process as the ’99 Compacts, or are they significantly a different process?


MR. JACKSON:  Go ahead.


MR. STIDHAM:  It was a significantly different process.  What we had here is a situation where, under the proposed compact, we followed those guidelines.  We did a TEIR.  We had a Notice of Preparation of that TEIR that went to the State Clearinghouse.  Then the draft was distributed for comment by the county, and we received drafts.  We then looked at and made changes in the TEIR and then did a final—an Environmental Impact Report.  That final then went out to the Clearinghouse.  Once that final was completed, we started our negotiations with the county itself, where we had meetings with the county counsel, the county administrator.  Met with them; talked about their needs; looked at the issues that they felt were important to mitigate off reservation.  We did the same, then, with Caltrans.  Talked with them; did a traffic study; had a traffic study submitted to them.  They then responded, saying, We think [this] needs to be done.  We had our traffic engineers analyze that, and we reached agreement, then, on what mitigation we would agree to.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of that, the tribe agreed to adopt OSHA work safety standards?

MR. STIDHAM:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And a new labor agreement that allowed for what type?  Collective bargaining.  Ballots.


MR. STIDHAM:  Yes.  It’s secret ballot.  It didn’t modify what was in 1999.  We don’t have the card check-neutrality that was included in some of the earlier compacts.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the provisions that are in the compact, you felt these necessary?


MR. STIDHAM:  The TLRO?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What we just mentioned—everything in terms of OSHA, the labor agreements, the collective bargaining.


MR. STIDHAM:  The tribe has a large number of tribal members that actually work in the casino; so that those types of protections, they were comfortable with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And has the tribe experienced any difficulties that would warrant any of these provisions in the prior compact?


MR. STIDHAM:  Not that I’m aware of.  We haven’t had any specific issues in terms of OSHA.  They’ve not been unionized, to answer the question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does the tribe believe that some of these points we’ve mentioned threaten any governing sovereignty of the tribe itself?


MR. JACKSON:  No, we don’t.  We’re just only looking at the safety of our tribal employees that work in the. . . . any employee that works in our casinos.  We have a safety committee already established looking at areas to benefit our employees.  We want to make sure our employees are taken care of.  Adopting OSHA—we do it anyway.  It wasn’t a big issue for us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess the issue I have is that the provisions in this particular compact as compared to the ’99—the issues that you’re addressing in the new compact—were they necessary?  Meaning, were you doing all of this anyway without the specific guidance of the new compact in terms of the standards—the OSHA and the environmental and the labor?  Are these needed?


MR. JACKSON:  To build anything we have done in the past, we always went on a strict California code for the safety of the building and, like I said, whoever works in those buildings.  We’re not going to build something that’s going to collapse or fall on them.  We go by the tough California standards of the building code.  We always have done that, and we always will.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the gaming disputes or injury claims, they currently go where?  Retired judge and that’s an arbitration process?  Or how does that work?


MR. STIDHAM:  Currently?  Currently, no, we follow the 1999 where we have our old practices where they don’t go to a dispute resolution outside of the tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the same in the new compact?


MR. STIDHAM:  The new compact, we have a process.  You have to separate out the patron disputes dealing with whether a game pays off or something like that, and then the tort claims.  But it goes through an arbitration process with JAMS on the patron disputes.  The other one goes through arbitration, not JAMS.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the issue with conflicts or injuries to patrons, how does that work in the new compact?


MR. STIDHAM:  In the new compact, what we will do is we have a tort claims ordinance.  We have one in place now.  The tribe operates that way now, where you would file a complaint; you provide notice; they file a claim; you go through that internal process.  If you’re not satisfied with that, then you can take it to arbitration. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just a couple of more questions, and I’m sorry it’s been a longer process.  How many employees do you expect to have at the new facility?


MR. JACKSON:  We expect up to 800 new employees.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are there current union contracts in effect for these new employees, or is that going forward in the new compacts?


MR. JACKSON:  I’m sorry, I didn’t understand your question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any current union employment?


MR. JACKSON:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the amended compact . . . 


MR. JACKSON:  Let me expand on that.  From the very start, we have given our employees above pay in every department we operate.  We give all our employees all the benefits:  health, retirement, everything.  We have no issues with the union whatsoever.  As a matter of fact, it would make a union official’s mouth water what the benefits we give to our employees.  We believe in that.  We believe in taking care of our employees.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now, in the amended compact it states that the tribe agrees to make a fair revenue contribution to the state.  I guess the question I would simply have is that given the revenue estimations that you’ve given me, is this, from your vantage point, considered fair?  And as compared to the ’99, is that to assume that the ’99s were something different?

MR. JACKSON:  Go ahead, Larry.


MR. STIDHAM:  Well, in terms of the ’99, what we were paying into was solely. . . . we weren’t even paying into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  So, in terms of those payments, we were paying 9 percent—or 10 percent—effective rate.  We weren’t paying that in the ’99 Compact.  So, in terms of reaching a fair contribution, in light of our ability to get the additional machines, the tribe then judged that to be a fair contribution.  That’s really what we’re looking at—and the exclusivity, plus the machines.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In the amended compact, is the tribe giving up its right to operate Class 2 games?


MR. STIDHAM:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, those will be counted as part of the 1,100?


MR. STIDHAM:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many Class 2 games does the tribe currently have?


MR. JACKSON:  None at this time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, that’s within the tribe’s thought process that it will be in that mix—Class 2?


MR. STIDHAM:  In terms of viability, the Class 2 is probably not a machine that would work in this casino.  They would have to use the Class 3s. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you using Class 2 in the other facility currently?


MR. STIDHAM:  It’s my understanding we’re not using any Class 2s.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m just trying to understand what you’re working on.


Just a couple of last points again.  The provision in the amended compact seems to puzzle me a bit, and it’s in regard to the tribe’s fee schedule to the State in terms of how it’s correlated with tribal membership.  I’m trying to understand the fee schedule as it’s correlated to tribal membership.  The fee schedule is about 2 percent points lower for the first hundred million in net win if the tribe maintains 3,000 members.  Is that basically the agreement?  And what’s the policy objective to this clause?  You have an amount of members, and yet, you have percentage points.  I don’t know—I mean, from first glance, it seems as though we’re putting a price per head, and I thought that, to me just on a reading of it, looks somewhat offensive.


MR. STIDHAM:  And we appreciate that concern.  When we went into negotiation with the Governor, what we said is that This is a big tribe.  We have a lot of land, and we have a lot of members.  We think we should be paying “X,” if you’re talking about dollars into the General Fund.  What we then talked about was, How much are we actually going to have to pay since we’re a big tribe?  We should be getting consideration for that.  

What the Governor’s Office then said, Well, this is what we did in the Fort Mojave compact.  This is how we put this together.  That was passed by the Legislature.  There were no tribes objecting to that.  This is how we did it.  And this is the formula that they used.  They basically said, Based on enrollment, which in California is a thousand or 3,000—Fort Mojave was a thousand; this is 3,000— this is a large tribe.  Recognizing that in California that’s a large population, we’re going to give you, then, from 0 to 50 million a 2 percent cut in the payments; then from 50 to 100 million, the 14, which is a 1 percent.  So, we would have a blended rate from the zero to a hundred million.  That’s what it was set out, but it was never, ever considered when we talked about that. . . . the issue of whether that was a slap in the face to other tribes never crossed our minds because it was something that had been approved in the past, and we thought it was acceptable.  It’s not now nor has it ever been the intent of the tribe to talk about that in terms of disrespecting any other tribes.  We didn’t understand the sensitivity to that issue, but this is the situation that we’re in, in terms of the numbers.  That’s why it was pitched that way and negotiated that way.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you say “pitched that way and negotiated.”  I understand the negotiated part, but who pitched that?

MR. STIDHAM:  That’s the approach that the Governor has in terms of giving us the reduced payments.


MR. JACKSON:  Mr. Golding wants to expand on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure, go ahead.


MR. GOLDING:  I’d just like to point out, though, that over the last decade, we’ve basically been growing at over a 3 percent rate per year in terms of our enrollment.  So, as earlier stated, we’re sitting at 3,230 citizens of our tribe, and that reflects a decade’s worth of growth at over 3 percent per year.  We don’t look at this, unfortunately, as a slap in the face or an insult from a genocidal point of view that has been raised, and that’s only because of our own experience of experiencing all this kind of growth in our own citizenship.


MR. JACKSON:  We definitely won’t let no agency or any government agency get involved in our enrollment process.  That’s for us to interpret.  It was only, again, like Mr. Stidham said, used as a calculating tool for the Governor to consider a large tribe in a rural setting.  It was already passed by the Fort Mojave Tribe.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’m just trying to get your perspective on what some might consider objectionable in terms of the per-head tax.  Your comment to that is that it’s sufficient for your tribe.


MR. JACKSON:  As I stated before, we’ve been organized as a California tribe for years.  We take our sovereignty very seriously, and we’ll never let anybody get involved in our enrollment process.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess the issue for me—the reason I bring that up—it seems as though, just in a glance and reading through this, you’re being taxed on membership.  I’m not sure the Legislature taxes corporations based on the number of shareholders.  I’m not sure how that structure works.  I mean, we don’t look at a corporation and say, You have 389 million shareholders, and so, therefore, we believe if you keep that number of shareholders, we’re fine; but if that drops, then you’re going to be paying an incremental change in corporate tax to the State of [blank].  It just seemed to be an odd structure for a compact.


MR. STIDHAM:  We understand that point of view.  I think the way we were looking at it, though, was that that’s just a way to show that this is a large tribe, and that was our perspective.  It had nothing to do with the per head type of analysis.  It was just how can you show this is a large tribe?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But you’re locked in on a per head . . . 


MR. STIDHAM:  Which we understand, and I think what Mr. Golding was pointing out is that we never anticipate going below the 3,000; so, it’s not an issue for us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The tribe has filed a lawsuit against the State, that we’ve not bargained—or let me put it this way.  The State has not bargained in good faith.  What are the circumstances surrounding that lawsuit, if you can talk about it?  And maybe you can give us an update.


MR. STIDHAM:  I think from our perspective, we filed the complaint.  Will there be an answer?  Probably in another couple of weeks from the Attorney General’s Office.  I assume it’s the Attorney General’s Office.  But what we’ve pointed out in our minds is that we’ve negotiated with the Governor that under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, there’s 180 days from the start of those negotiations for us to get our compact by the State.  It doesn’t say the Governor; it doesn’t say the Legislature.  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act talks about the State providing a compact to the tribe after negotiations.  We’ve completed the negotiations, but we don’t have the compact from the Legislature.  So, really, the issue in that lawsuit will be:  Is the Legislature bound by that 180-day requirement under IGRA?  Our position is that you are.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The last question I have—and it’s going to be a question I’m going to ask for every single compact that comes before this body—and that’s simply, in the amended compact in terms of addressing the issue of mitigation to other gaming enterprises in the State, is there such a provision in your compact?


MR. JACKSON:  Are you talking about negotiating with other tribes?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  Other gaming enterprises.  Senator Vincent passionately, in voting against my resolution, said that the horseracing industry is one of those industries—as an example—that is dying as we sit here and speak.  And so, given that—and I think Senator Vincent has said this many times as not only the chair of this committee but also now as a member—where does everybody share a bit in the wealth of some of the compacts that are going forward?  I know the State shares quite a bit—25 percent in many cases—but there is a provision in terms of mitigating for other gaming enterprises in this state.  Do you see that as part and parcel of your compact in terms of looking at other industries?

And I’m going to ask that question every time because Senator Vincent has put in my head that every time we think about approving a compact, that this committee really should think about the mitigation aspects to other gaming enterprises itself.


So, what would you tell me in terms of:  Is there a provision there, in terms of mitigating for other types of gaming enterprises?


MR. STIDHAM:  The answer would be no.  There’s nothing in there that mitigates any other gaming.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Then the question is:  Why not?


MR. STIDHAM:  It wasn’t an issue raised to us in the negotiations.  The tribe’s perspective is that we’re trying to keep every dollar we possibly can in the tribe.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.


MR. STIDHAM:  So, our goal is not to negotiate away payments.  If somebody’s not asking for dollars to go to somewhere else in terms of mitigation, we’re certainly not going to be offering it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Of course.  As the Governor starts to look at these particular compacts, and I know that his office is here, I should probably give notice that we’re interested in making sure that mitigation is total mitigation as well, as we start to look at other types of facilities and gaming impacts.  Senator Vincent’s mentioned the horseracing industry in particular.  Those are things that I think we feel very strongly about in terms of the discussion by the Governor’s Office in looking at this in totality—the big picture—not just, if you will, in essence, one industry.


Senator Vincent?


SENATOR VINCENT:  You’re being real candid about this whole thing, and I’m looking at this young lady here.  She spoke about her tribe.  I’m looking at her and I’m looking at Pocahontas really, okay? . . . [inaudible].  But let me say this:  When I formed a task force in regards to the horseracing industry—because we’re losing.  We’re losing, okay?  It’s going to other places.  To be honest with you, it’s going other places where they have slot machines on the tracks to fund the purses.  Therefore, they have larger purses.  They have larger fields of horses running because of the purses, and they have more trainers there.  What’s happening in California, we used to be the king of all.  We’re losing out because they’re going to other places where the purses are bigger, the crowds are bigger, the trainers are there, and the whole works.

What I did when I formed the task force is I got everybody on that task force with any interest about this gaming thing in California.  And I sent it out to CNIGA, I sent it out to all the tribes, and none of the tribes showed up for me.  I’ve been meeting a long time, and none of the tribes showed up.  Okay?  That’s the way it went down.  I wanted everyone to be considered, looking at everybody’s situation on this, the situation now, and now I’ve got something in mind where another tribe will.  They are interested.  This is one of the reasons I didn’t want this bill.  The tribes had the opportunity to participate.  I sent it to CNIGA.  I go down to Pechanga.  I go to Morongo.  I go down there.  I was with the Indians before they had slot machines.  

MR. GOLDING:  Of course, we don’t have any of the big tracks by us either.


MR. JACKSON:  Senator Vincent, we had this discussion before, and now would be a good opportunity for the California tribes.  We’ll unite and take on the action.  But as we sit here, the Quechan Tribe—you heard our revenue that comes to the tribe.  We can’t afford that.  If we were a big tribe in a metro area, we’d definitely be talking to you about working within the horseracing industry.  It’s a livelihood in California.  It should never go away.  I love horseracing myself.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Appreciate that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And let me take your goodwill, then, a little step further in terms of what Senator Vincent mentioned.  Obviously, you just mentioned that there are no facilities from your vantage point in this, but if there was a special mitigation fund for horseracing or for affected industries, is that something that you would participate in, would be interested in?  I think you just mentioned if you were in an urban center, but if it was an industrywide type of discussion, is that something that the tribe would feel particularly interested in?


MR. JACKSON:  I’m saying that the tribe should look into—you’re talking about competition—the tribe should start listening and wise up and try to get interested in Mr. Vincent’s call, to answer that call.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the reason I say that—obviously, you’ve said it, and I think it’s real key.  You’re trying to bring in as much revenue as possible for the tribe, and yet, you’re capped at 1,100.  And I’m just saying, if the Governor’s Office went to negotiate with you and said, It was not 1,100; in fact, it’s 2,000, and we would create this sort of mitigation fund—obviously, that would be of interest—or not?

MR. JACKSON:  Again, we’ll never get up to the revenue that you’re discussing.  But what I’m trying to say is that city tribes, which I call them—freeway tribes—that make a lot of money in gaming, if they don’t answer Mr. Vincent’s call about what’s happening, then they’re going to have stiff competition in the city area, which we won’t have.  We’re in a rural setting.  I’m just advising they’d better wise up and start looking to that issue.


MR. STIDHAM:  In terms of that revenue, once again, we look at how much money goes out of our pockets.  If the State is looking at taking out of the General Fund the money that we’re providing into the General Fund and creating that type of fund, that’s not our issue.  We’re not troubled by that, but our concern is you can’t come back to the Quechan Tribe and say, We have this fund, and now in addition to the 10 percent [we’re] paying or the 14 percent [we’re] paying to the General Fund and the amount [we’re] paying into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund, we want another amount of money.  That’s not acceptable to us.  We’re willing to talk about dividing up the pie or carving out the money that we provide to the General Fund.  That’s really your issue.  We’re not here to provide more money to the State.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand that.  I don’t think Senator Vincent’s saying we’re trying to impose on.  The question that’s asked is:  Why isn’t the Governor having those discussions to compacts that come down here prior to so you have that opportunity in your own setting to make arguments pro or con, yes or no?  Without that structure even being discussed in the negotiation process, I think it leaves out something of interest to the committee, and that is:  How do we make sure that all industries do better?  I think what we’re simply saying in this discussion—I think I prefaced this by saying I’m going to ask every single compact that comes before this committee that same question, because I think it’s a question that Senator Vincent’s asked for a couple of years now, and it’s a simple question, and that is:  How do we get this kind of discussion going within the compacts before they get here so that we can try to figure out if there’s some interest in that type of structure?  I’m going to ask the Governor’s Office that in a minute, but I wanted to ask your opinion before we did.


That is all the questions I had.  And I’m sorry—we’ve been here for two-and-a-half, almost three hours.  But this is the process that we want to convey, that every compact that comes through at least this body gets this type of a hearing.  

Is there anything that I did not add that you would like to address?  And I know and I will reserve your right to say something at the end of the hearing if you hear something that you may not particularly like.  But at this point in time, is there anything you’d like to close with?

SENATOR VINCENT:  Dean, could I say one thing?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Senator Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I just want to piggyback the thing, and this is for the tribes, especially for this young lady here.  Many, many, many years ago when Geronimo was talking to Cochise, Cochise said to him he was trying to deal with the white man.  Cochise really believed in them.  He was dealing with them and making compacts and talking.  But the man broke all the treaties.  Okay?  He broke the treaties for money.  They wanted the gold.  The gold happened to be on Indian land, so therefore, they violated the contract and they went on and dug the gold.  Now, if they dug the gold and the Indians did something to them, then there comes the Army.  If the Indians were in town having a drink of whisky, there come the Army throwing them out.  So, what I’m saying is they had a meeting—the tribes—and Cochise made the statements that, Let’s get together.  We’ve got a contract here, and they’re going to abide by this contract.  So, we want to bring all the tribes in and talk, and anybody that doesn’t want to go along—he’s talking to the tribes—he said, Then if you believe that, you should walk away.  And Geronimo told him, We’ve been through this many, many times, making treaties with the man, and he hasn’t honored them, so I walk away.  


That’s why I walked away today on this resolution.  

MR. JACKSON:  Well, Senator Vincent, the Quechan Nation will ask for your support in the future.  


I would like to end by saying that our ancestors were farmers, but they were warriors, too, when they had to be.  We defeated the Spaniards many times.  Many times.  And we consider ourselves the victors because of Fort Yuma, where we live now.  Our administration office is in Fort Yuma.  We’re the victors because we’re there and they’re gone.  We didn’t give up.  We’re a tenacious-fighting Native American tribe, and we don’t give up.  We fight to the bitter end.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Members, before you leave, let me state for the record—to Mr. Read particularly—let it be said that we gave you, at least in this particular discussion without a bill to be voted on, quite a bit of time, and I think you’ve answered every single question on my sheet.  And as we continue to discuss these types of compacts, the next hearing will be about your bill.  So, I think any member that didn’t take advantage of the opportunity to ask a lot of these good questions in a setting that was very clear and had the opportunity to do so really did so at their peril.  Because I feel at least somewhat thoroughly briefed on your particular compact.  So, we look forward to your compact moving from the Assembly to here, if that is, in essence, what you plan to do.  So, I want to thank you for that.


MR. JACKSON:  I’ll go away being happy as a tribal leader of my people.  When I was talking, you asked me not to mention opposing tribes and their issues.  But I was hoping those questions coming from you and not the mouths of some tribe that opposes us—coming from you is fine—but let those tribes come and ask us, and we’ll tell them.  They have never stepped up to meet with us and discussed with us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chairman?  Let me give you a better thing to do.  Send them the transcript of this hearing—which will be available in a couple of weeks—in terms of anyone that has questions.  This is the purpose of these hearings is to try to ask as many questions as you would get on the record.  And I think the important thing about the record is, it is just that—the record.  And so, I think you have those opportunities.  Questions should be asked.  Every question should be asked as much as possible.  I think you’ve done a very good job of answering all the questions, at least in my book.  If there’s further questions, we’d ask you to be able to answer those as well.


Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members.


Let’s have the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research please come up.


Thank you for being here.  I’m not sure how you want to start.  I’d like to have a general discussion on the process the Governor uses in negotiating compacts.  I do have some specific questions on the Quechan compact itself.  And then, I’d like to finish off, if we could, about the timing and the release of this compact, plus some mitigation issues.  I think you heard me mention about other impacts:  mitigation on other industries.  So, that’s the way I’d like to go through this, if possible.


First and foremost, do you have a statement?  Or would you like me to just begin?


MS. SUSAN BLAKE:  I did have a statement, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Please.


MS. BLAKE:  My name is Susan Blake.  I’m with the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research.  As you know, we are the entity of the Governor that is required to represent the compacts to the Legislature.  


That’s what I was prepared to do today.  Prior to the three hours of discussion, I was going to give you a rundown of the amendments to the compact, but I think we’ve pretty much covered them all in detail.  So, I will just make the statement that I believe the Governor’s Office has negotiated in good faith with the Quechan Tribe, and in good faith the tribe has agreed to contribute their fair share to the State.  They have agreed to mitigate off-reservation impacts, and they have agreed to ensure that their facilities are safe, the patrons are protected, and that there’s adequate recourse to the arbitration process if there are disputes.  

Subject to specific questions, that is the position of the Governor’s Office.


MR. TODD JERUE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I’m Todd Jerue from the Department of Finance, and I have nothing to add to Ms. Blake’s presentation, but I’m available for any budget-related questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.


First of all, the public policy goal in terms of the amended compact, what are we trying to do there?  We’re trying to maximize revenue?  Is that going to be said that that’s what we’re attempting to do?

MS. BLAKE:  Well, maximization of revenue is, of course, going to be beneficial to the State.  But I think the overall purpose and what the Governor’s concerned with is that individuals are protected; that the local communities are protected and that they have the opportunity to mitigate off-reservation impacts; that patrons and users and employees of the facility are protected.  I think those are the paramount interests.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, it has nothing to do with trying to maximize revenue for the State?


MS. BLAKE:  Well, of course.  The State is always interested in revenue, as we know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I just heard the Governor going throughout the state, saying, We haven’t got our fair share from Indians, and I’m just wondering if that left the equation somewhere in terms of safety.  So, this is about revenue sharing and also—

MS. BLAKE:  Yes, I think that’s a fair statement.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the goal is, I hope, to help the tribe achieve certain financial goals or self-sufficiency?


MS. BLAKE:  Absolutely, and I believe that the compact does respect tribal sovereignty and enable them to do that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is the goal to also maximize mitigation on surrounding communities and other entities?


MS. BLAKE:  Yes.  That was pretty much well discussed earlier.  That’s why those mitigation amendments were added to the compact—or are being sought to be added to the compact.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Here’s the question of the day:  How much revenue do we expect to come from this particular compact?


MS. BLAKE:  I’m going to defer to the Department of Finance on that, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we’re on the record.


MR. JERUE:  Sure.  I haven’t seen any estimates.  The only number I’ve been hearing, that you mentioned, was the 59 million.  I can just tell you by a quick look at that sliding scale that it appears that that would generate about     $6 million in annual revenue to the State.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s based on the 59 million.


MR. JERUE:  Correct—looking at the sliding scale.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s $201 per machine, per day.


MR. JERUE:  I don’t have all the factors regarding the net win, et cetera.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The revenue stream—what is it used for?  In other words, is this going into an account?  Is there re-bonding[?] against this revenue stream?  What, in essence, are we doing with this ongoing revenue stream?


MR. JERUE:  My understanding of this revenue stream is that it just goes into the General Fund.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  General Fund.


MR. JERUE:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How much is in the General Fund right now in terms of the signed compacts?  Do we know?


MR. JERUE:  Yes.  I believe the estimate for the budget year is approximately $25 million.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Twenty-five million dollars for the budget year.

MR. JERUE:  I believe so.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How much do we actually have in the bank?


MR. JERUE:  Just a second—I’ll find it.  That’s not including the bonding for the transportation.  This is just the revenue beyond that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, we’re not going to utilize this new revenue stream from this compact for any bonding?


MR. JERUE:  That I don’t know.  I don’t even know if that’s eligible for that.


MS. BLAKE:  I believe there was an Assembly bill signed in 2004 that would enable that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. JERUE:  I have some revenue information for you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. JERUE:  For ’04-’05, the State received 19.2 million.  I believe at that time that was five new or amended.  The projection for ’05-’06 for the budget year is. . . . well, the projection is $25.3 million for the current year and budget year as of the ’06-’07 Governor’s budget.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go to the amended compact more specifically.  The tribe was authorized in the ’99 Compacts to operate two casinos.


MS. BLAKE:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this one, it’s one casino.


MS. BLAKE:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why is that?  What’s the policy objective to limiting the tribe to one?


MS. BLAKE:  Perhaps the tribe can answer that a little better, but as I understand it, the tribe would like to move to a more favorable location on Highway 8, which is only about four miles from its existing facility.  And they would like to increase their number of gaming devices.  In consideration of that, they were willing to negotiate down to only holding one larger facility in exchange for what could have been two smaller facilities.  It was simply a function of negotiations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, that was offered by the Governor’s Office?


MS. BLAKE:  Quite frankly, I was not personally involved in negotiations.  That’s done by the legal affairs unit, so I don’t have personal knowledge of that.  All I know is what came out.  I can look at the amendments.  I essentially have the same information you have, which is the press releases and the actual language of the compact and the testimony . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And when you say “legal affairs unit,” who is that person?  Who sits in a room from the legal affairs department and negotiates these compacts?


MS. BLAKE:  There are a number of individuals in the legal affairs unit, and I don’t know personally who sat down and was the individual or group of individuals.  If you want, I can go back to the Governor’s Office and see if I can get a response from them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do those negotiations take place in Sacramento?  Where are they?


MS. BLAKE:  I honestly could not say because I was not part of those.  Although, I’m happy to try and get a response for you, if you would like.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask you—and the Department of Finance would know this because I think you pay the bills.  Is this person on the State payroll?  Or is this someone that’s off payroll?

MR. JERUE:  All I know is from the prior.  I think at that time there was nine new and amended that were negotiated.  I believe at that time there was money budgeted to pay some consultants that negotiated the . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, we’re paying consultants to negotiate the compact?  Any idea how much money we spent in terms of those consultants?


MR. JERUE:  You know, I don’t recall the original contract, but I think the individual’s name was in one of the first press releases from 2004, and I don’t know if I have that in front of me.  I think at the time that was Daniel Kolkey.  I don’t know if he’s still negotiating these or not.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that contract expire annually, or is this something that we continue to fund?  When I’m voting on the budget, I’m voting for somebody’s allocation as a consultant.  How do I know what that number is?  I’m sure the members here would like to know.


MR. JERUE:  I can find out the number because it was budgeted in the Gambling Commission’s budget.  I just don’t know the number right offhand.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Could you get back to us?  Thank you.


The amended compact put a cap of 1,100 slot machines.  Right?


MS. BLAKE:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the significance of the 1,100 was?


MS. BLAKE:  I do not know the specifics of the 1,100.  I know the tribe testified that that was what they were willing to negotiate for in consideration of their tribal membership and in consideration of their market study and the local costs.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any idea why we didn’t just do unlimited slot machines like we have had in prior compacts when we move these forward?


MS. BLAKE:  I don’t have access to that information.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who has access to all of this great info that we’ve had a noticed hearing on for a month or so?  I mean, how do we get someone from the Governor’s Office that maybe has negotiated this compact to tell us the details, given that we’re making a decision and ratifying a compact based on someone’s negotiation?


MS. BLAKE:  I understand your concerns.  The negotiations are confidential, and those are done with the attorneys from the Governor’s legal affairs unit and the attorneys from the tribe, and I know they’re negotiated in good faith.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But the outcome is public.


MS. BLAKE:  Absolutely, and that’s what we’re looking at here today is the outcome.  Now, the actual words that were exchanged, those negotiations are confidential.  I can take your concerns back to the legal affairs unit and see if they can provide you a response.  That’s the best I can do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  I think most of us would like to see the rationale, premises, and numbers before we participate in these types of things.  And I think the tribe did a very good job of giving us their perception side of the negotiation.  But on the other side of the equation, the publicly funded side of the ledger—our side—it seems we get more information from privates than we do publics.  And I’m wondering how we can get more information on these compacts from the people that negotiate them, in front of a legislative committee where we make decisions.  How do we do that?


MS. BLAKE:  Is that a particular question to which you’re looking for a response?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MS. BLAKE:  I’m sorry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, it is.


MS. BLAKE:  I wasn’t sure if that was a rhetorical statement.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  I ended it with:  How do we do that?


MS. BLAKE:  I’m sorry, Senator.  I will express your concerns to the legal affairs unit.  Like I articulated earlier, I was not present at the negotiations when they were conducted.  I can take your concerns back.  I can ask the legal affairs unit to provide a response to you, and I will do that, I assure you.  I do believe that the responses given by the tribe were well articulated as well.  They looked at their community, they looked at the size of their tribe, they looked at the size of the facility that they were capable of operating, and they agreed that that was a fair number.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you a question about the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund I asked the tribe—but from, of course, the different side of the equation:  the public side; our side.  The Governor acknowledged that this would be a $59 million annual amount in a public document, and I’m just wondering, again, how did we get to that number?


MS. BLAKE:  That was a number that was provided to us by the tribe, and as I understand it, it was based on the market study that they had done in their community.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think you heard it also mentioned that the tribe is not required to contribute to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund until it makes     $75 million.


MS. BLAKE:  That’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask you from our perspective, the other side of the equation:  Is that payment scheme fair to nongaming tribes?


MS. BLAKE:  I think one of the issues that wasn’t raised before that maybe we need to look at is the fact that the tribe, if and when this compact is ratified, they will no longer be drawing from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  At this point, they’re taking anywhere from a million to a million one dollars a year out of that.  When they are no longer drawing that money, that frees up the other side of the ledger for the nongaming tribes.  So, in a sense, the nongaming tribes are going to indirectly benefit to the tune of approximately a million dollars a year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And why are the first 700 devices exempt?


MS. BLAKE:  I honestly don’t know why that provision was provided.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The tribes say they have 850 maximum.  They’re taking 350 from their current.  Adding 500 to that, that’s 850.  The first 700 devices are exempt.  That leaves us 150 machines in which to make revenue.  That doesn’t seem like a lot of revenue in terms of, in essence, meeting the 75 million to ever pay into this fund.  So, how does that math work?


MS. BLAKE:  I’m not entirely sure.  Those are a lot of figures to be throwing around.  I need to get my calculator out.  If that’s something that you’d like me to ask the legal affairs unit how they calculated those figures and when they thought they would get to the 75 million . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Because our job is to figure out how much revenue we’re really getting, because that is why we supposedly vote for these compacts.  If we don’t know how much revenue we’re going to be getting . . . 


MS. BLAKE:  Well, we are getting revenue in terms of the General Fund, and that would be the 10 percent, provided that the tribes maintain their 3,000 membership.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The fee on 850 machines gives us $135,000 a year.


MS. BLAKE:  Okay.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that seem like a big amount to the Department of Finance?


MR. JERUE:  With some of the budgets I have, no, that’s not a very large amount.  I don’t know how it was derived.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If we do 1,100 machines, the State gets a grand total of $360,000.  Seem like a big amount?  Is it significant to the Department of Finance?  Does that pay for the consultant’s fee?  Let’s just start there.  What we pay the consultant to negotiate that, does it even get close to paying Mr. Kolkey?

MR. JERUE:  No, it probably . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, how do we win here?  How do we justify that?


MS. BLAKE:  I think we look at the benefit of the State to look at the contributions to the General Fund.  I mean, that’s the money that the State actually gets.  The Revenue Sharing Trust Fund is not necessarily money that’s going to benefit the State in general.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, in terms of the trust fund itself being sufficient or nonsufficient to nongaming tribes, you’re saying the fact that they’re getting off of that particular system frees up the additional 1.5 million going forward.


MS. BLAKE:  And there may be as much as 360,000 that would be added to it.


MR. JERUE:  What it does, it has a direct impact on the SDF because . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, I can tell nongaming tribes that this is a good deal for them.  That’s what you’re telling me.


MR. JERUE:  No.  I think it’s actually a better deal for the SDF tribes because that $1.1 million would stay in the SDF because the transfer to the RSTF would be reduced.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s talk about the SDF since you’ve mentioned it now.  The public policy benefit of having the tribe not pay into the Special Distribution Fund is what?


MR. JERUE:  You mentioned earlier the priorities of the SDF, so let’s talk about each of those separately.  Number one is the appropriation that transfers to the RSTF to make the nongaming payments.  It would reduce that transfer by approximately 1.1 million.  Number two, I’m not as much sure about problem gambling, but I do believe it’s addressed in the compact.  I’m not sure whether or not they would receive funding from any State program versus working with the county for their own program.  Number three is the amount appropriated in the budget act for regulatory activities.  Our budget proposal this year, in the ’06-’07 budget, for the first time does differentiate between General Fund work and Special Fund work.  And so, as we continue to add more General Fund compacts, over time we will continue to do a split-funded budget.  In theory, the General Fund work[?] will not be using SDF funding.  

And then finally, as far as the appropriation for local mitigation, this compact has that negotiated directly.  And so, I don’t believe that in this case Imperial County would be a recipient of the distribution for local mitigation from the SDF.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m trying to really understand everything you just said.  Let me just ask you the bottom-line question:  Are the costs associated with the Special Distribution Fund being paid for?


MR. JERUE:  I think the answer is:  Nothing is being paid to the SDF, but this tribe would not receive, in theory, any services funded by the SDF.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, it goes to the General Fund, and that, in essence, is covering this?


MS. BLAKE:  Well, the compact requires the tribes to negotiate with the locals to do those mitigations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Requires them to paying nothing.  Is that correct?


MS. BLAKE:  Well, it requires them to negotiate with the locals, and if the locals don’t agree, then they can go to an arbitration process.  And I think the tribe testified well to that, that they’ve actually already gone through and done much of that mitigation work.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the benefit to the General Fund, again, is?


MS. BLAKE:  Ten percent of the net win for the first 50 million if the tribe remains at 3,000. 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in the Governor’s budget, is the General Fund reserved for auditing?


MR. JERUE:  Excuse me?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is the General Fund dollars that you’ve mentioned solely reserved for auditing?  Or is it just spend it in any way?


MR. JERUE:  No.  I believe all of the regular activities of the State have been, on kind of an hour/workload basis, have been attempted to be differentiated by General Fund or SDF tribe.  Now, it’s the first crack at it.  I’m sure it’s not perfect, but over time, we want to continue to have a fair fund split based on their compact and which fund they’re paying into.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You mentioned the mitigation agreements that are currently in place for the county.  The mitigations with Caltrans—the tribe, from your perspective, in terms of the mitigation with the State?  Did the State prescribe that mitigation, or is that something that was negotiated?


MS. BLAKE:  I believe that was something that was negotiated, but I couldn’t say for sure because, like I have stated previously, I wasn’t part of the negotiations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, I know.  And part of the negotiations that you weren’t part of, was Caltrans there?  I mean, they’re the folks that are going to tell us the number.


MS. BLAKE:  I do not know if Caltrans was present.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do we know, then, how we reach a number in terms of mitigation, in terms of roads or Caltrans or any of these?


MS. BLAKE:  Well, the tribes, I believe, testified to the fact that they had already squared away these issues with Caltrans, and I think that they said the only thing that was going to be impacted was an overpass, and they had already worked with Caltrans and had started on the process for determining how much that was going to cost.  And I think they laid out an $8.5 million figure, but I’m not positive.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just a couple more questions in terms of the Administration’s extras in this particular compact.  “Extras” meaning the newer compacts all seem to look like this.  The compacts talk about building public safety codes, general liability insurance.  They talk about labor types of issues and environmental types of issues.  Those are all part and parcel of not only this compact but past compacts—correct?  The new compacts.


MS. BLAKE:  To my knowledge.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes?


MS. BLAKE:  I’m prepared to talk about the Quechan Tribe’s compact.  I don’t necessarily know about the previous ones.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  The Quechan compact has binding arbitration in this?


MS. BLAKE:  Mm hmm.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Patron injury claims in it?


MS. BLAKE:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What are those public policy objectives—I think you stated it at the beginning—from the Governor’s perspective?


MS. BLAKE:  Protection for patrons, for employees, for visitors; for individuals that are going to frequent the casino facilities.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think I mentioned it at the end to the chairman about the fee schedule in terms of the actual size of the tribe being some sort of sliding scale.  Can you give us the rationale for that?


MS. BLAKE:  That was another one of the issues that was negotiated with the tribes in consideration of the local community, the size of the tribe.  They are, I believe, the second largest tribe in the State, and they have, I think, the largest land mass for a tribe in the State.  In encouraging them to maintain their large enrollment, this was set up as an incentive to not allow their enrollment to drop.  The tribe testified that they expect an increase; in fact, I believe they said they’ve had a 3 percent increase per year over the last ten years.  So, I don’t know that that’s even an issue.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just go back, before I let you go, on the Special Distribution Fund so I can understand this.  The current compact says that this tribe does not pay into the Special Distribution Fund.  Correct?


MS. BLAKE:  To my knowledge, yes, that’s correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the public policy benefit of that, again, is?


MS. BLAKE:  I don’t believe they were paying into the Special Distribution Fund previously, but because the Special Distribution Fund and the RSTF have to backfill, the fact that the tribe will no longer be taking money out of the RSTF means that there will be more money available for other tribes.  And the purposes of the SDF will be fulfilled in that there will be agreements with the locals to cover those off-reservation mitigation problems.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, the cost associated with that particular fund, from your perspective, are all inclusive of the 10 percent.  Ten percent is paying those types of requirements under this fund?

MR. JERUE:  Well, the 10 percent would be, in theory, paying for the regulatory workload as we move forward.  The mitigation, I believe, is paid directly from the tribe to whoever they agree with on the mitigation efforts.  So, those funds don’t go through the State per se.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I’ll let you go now, but I think for future compact discussions, would it be possible for the Administration—and I understand.  I mean, they’re good attorneys.  They can obviously tell us, We can talk about that and We can’t talk about that.  But it would be nice to see the attorney that negotiated the compact.  I assume, as I mentioned, there’s some line item in the budget that pays for a million-dollar-a-year salary or something of that sort, or contract, and I’m not necessarily sure it’s out of the Special Distribution Fund, hidden somewhere, or we never see it.  But I think the point for us is, simply, this is a Senate committee, and we’re responsible for ratification of a compact, and that’s kind of different than calling someone into your office to have a discussion.  I mean, this is something part and parcel of understanding these compacts.  Could you please request that, and could we get a formal response back from you in terms of whether or not the attorneys are going to participate or not?


Senator Soto?


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  I’m just wondering if that’s the indication of the importance the Governor puts on our job with compacts.  And if it is, maybe this is just a waste of time, because I really feel as if it doesn’t make any difference to him what we say.

MS. BLAKE:  Well, I think that that might be an unfair characterization.  I know the Governor is very concerned about maintaining the sovereignty of the tribes and seeing their compacts negotiated.  That’s why he’s invested the amount of money that we don’t know how much it is and making sure that these compacts are well negotiated and they’re done fairly.  So, I would take minor offense in saying the Governor doesn’t really care.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I think when they don’t send representatives, it can give us. . . . well, 30 percent of your answers were I don’t know.  So, I think in fairness to the committee, 30 percent of the questions of I don’t know are not sufficient.  I think you would agree with any legislative body charged with oversight that those are insufficient percentages.


MS. BLAKE:  Yes sir, and I agree with you.  And as I did say, I will do my best to make sure that you are given a response to those questions to which I did not have an answer.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  The last question—I think I asked the tribe as well:  How does the Governor’s Office feel about Senator Vincent’s issue of a larger mitigation for other industries where they’re affected?


MS. BLAKE:  At the risk of sounding nonresponsive, since I was not part of the negotiations, I don’t know if that was part . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you taking your percentage up here?  [Laughter.]


MS. BLAKE:  Yes, let’s go to 32 percent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We’re going to 32 percent now?


MS. BLAKE:  I think the senator’s concerns are legitimate, and that’s another issue that I can bring back to the legal affairs unit.  I don’t know if they discussed the mitigation of other gaming industries.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They didn’t.  The chairman was very clear that that did not get brought up.  The tribe isn’t going to bring it up, I think as has been mentioned.  I mean, we’re wondering whether or not that’s part and parcel of the Governor’s structure in terms of looking at industries as a whole in California.  And if you could, please take that back as well.


MS. BLAKE:  All right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you both.  Appreciate it.


Could we have Mary Beth Moylan, assistant director, Appellate Advocacy; and lecturer on law, Governmental Affairs Center, McGeorge School of Law.

PROFESSOR MARY BETH MOYLAN:  Senator Florez, I’m going to make a suggestion in the interest of time.  Perhaps my presentation and Mr. Tom Gede’s presentation could be joint and we’ll present this together.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.  Let’s do that.


PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  And Mr. Tom Gede is also an adjunct professor of Indian law at McGeorge as well—his other duty.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you for joining us.


PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  He has a vast array of knowledge on this topic.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, first of all, thank you both.  Have you been sitting through most of this hearing today?  So, I think you can see we’re somewhat engaged in these issues here in this committee, and we very much appreciate it.


PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  Well, you’re welcome.  


I was asked to come here today to talk about issues of sovereignty and specifically tribal sovereignty, but I think I’d like to start with just a very brief, more general definition of sovereignty.


In order to be sovereign, an entity needs to enjoy complete independence and self-governance.  So, there are two parts to the sovereignty inquiry:  independence and self-governance.  From the early 1830s, you have Chief Justice Marshall in the Cherokee Nation case, as well as Worcester vs. Georgia, identifying Indian tribes as having sovereignty and that they have a right to self-governance; but also articulating that Indian tribes are not sovereign in the way that foreign nations are and for the constitutional purposes do not rise to the level of a foreign nation in terms of their ability to sue.  Justice Marshall in that Cherokee Nation case, which is an 1831 case, coined the phrase, “Domestic-dependent nations.”  The jurisprudence on Indian sovereignty since that time has used that term “domestic-dependent nations.”  More expansively, Justice Marshall indicated that the relationship between tribes and the federal government is one of a ward and a guardian.  So, there is this idea that for purposes of internal governance in terms of deciding on enrolling members and disenrolling members and forming governmental tribal laws that tribes have are sovereign and cannot be interfered.  But because of the history in our country, because of issues of dominion over tribes, because of the way that tribes are situated on land within the United States, tribes also have this dependent relationship to the federal government and that federal law can regulate and govern tribes.  

We go to the Commerce Clause.  We see that three different types of sovereigns are mentioned in Section 8 of Article I of the federal Constitution, which is the Commerce Clause.  That article speaks about foreign nations, it speaks about the separate states, and it speaks about Indian tribes.  So, we know even from the Constitution that those three different types of entities are distinct:  They’re not identical sovereigns; they have their own issues of sovereignty.

When we talk about state sovereignty, we are in a different situation because the Constitution itself provides for state sovereignty through the Tenth Amendment and through the Eleventh Amendment of the federal Constitution.  So, in the Tenth Amendment, states reserve rights to themselves that are not otherwise granted to the federal government.  In the Eleventh Amendment, we have the provision of sovereign immunity from lawsuits, that states hold that right.


States gave up—ceded—some portions of their sovereignty by forming the federal Union.  Because the states were at the table, state sovereign immunity and state sovereignty are constitutional constructs:  They’re within the Constitution.  At the Constitutional Convention they said, We reserve some of our sovereignty, and we give up some of our sovereignty, because tribes were not sitting at the Constitutional Convention because tribes were not part of the decision-making process to form this Union and to give up some sovereign rights.  Generally, tribal sovereignty is viewed as extra-constitutional.  In other words, there’s nowhere in the Constitution where we can point to and say, Well, this is how we define tribal sovereignty.  Instead, there’s some notion of inherent sovereignty that tribes have, and then there is this competing tension which is the federal government’s role as a guardianship role, as having some amount of dominion over Indian tribes, and the ability to regulate relationships with tribes.

So, that’s just kind of a very, very basic baseline of sovereignty.  

I don’t know where your questions lie.  For me, the interesting intersection comes where state sovereignty and tribal sovereignty butt heads, for lack of a better term, and that happens in a lot of context.  I actually don’t teach Indian law, I teach election law, and one of the areas that I am studying in my area of academic interest is these FPPC cases which are out there now in which there’s the question of whether the state has the right to require and enforce its disclosure laws in election activity against tribal sovereigns who wish not to disclose campaign finance information.  So, that’s another area.  

IGRA is another area where you see the federal government has delegated authority to the states to negotiate, to have sovereign-to-sovereign negotiations with tribal governments, and the question is, because we are dealing with two separate types of sovereigns, how do those relationships work?  There is going to be a tension anytime you come up with two sovereigns; one of which has ceded some of its sovereign rights in the course of forming a federal Union, and one of which has ceded some of its sovereign rights unwillingly through the history of Native American experience in this nation.


I could talk a little bit about the history of how the federal regulation of tribes has gone.  There’ve been different periods over the course of the 170-plus years since the Cherokee Nation case.  There’ve been different approaches by the federal government to Indian sovereignty.  In the 1930s, there was an attempt to give tribes autonomy, to interact with tribes in an intergovernmental relationship, to give rights to tribes to be sovereign, to govern themselves—a very strong self-governance type of period.  In the 1950s, you saw a little bit of a pullback—a time of assimilation.  Public Law 280 was passed which granted certain states, including California, the ability to serve as a delegate for the federal government and to have civil adjudicatory as well as criminal jurisdiction on Indian land.  Then you see a kind of reemergence of the self-governance/self-determination effort by the federal government in the ’60s and ’70s and up until today.  The Indian Child Welfare Act as well as the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act are both examples of the federal government trying to find ways for tribes to really exercise their sovereignty, to have economic development, to gain self-determination.  

And so, we’re kind of in a phase.  But it does weave in and out, and I think that the weaving comes from this tension between the inherent sovereignty that has been recognized from the beginning of the relationship as well as the tension is bred by this idea of dominion or a ward/guardian relationship that is constantly present in the relationship.


SENATOR SOTO:  Not allowing tribes to make decisions for themselves . . . To me, it’s inconceivable. . . . I’m sorry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, it’s okay.


SENATOR SOTO:  This is the 21st century, and we’re still trying to make decisions for the Indians.  How long are we going to be doing this?


PROFESSOR  MOYLAN:  I don’t know quite how to respond to that, except that in terms of the jurisprudence and the history of the relationship, there clearly have been attempts by the federal government to also benefit tribes, and there are benefits that tribes derive from the relationship that they have.  

Now, I’m not in a position to say whether tribes would wish those benefits in exchange for true sovereignty, but it’s very difficult, given the history of the relationship and, frankly, given just the physical situation that we’re in where tribal lands are within the boundaries of the United States, to figure out ways to allow for sovereignty in the sense of foreign nations for Indian tribes.  I mean, I think that’s historically been the problem.


SENATOR SOTO:  Well, yes it is a problem, a real problem.

PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  Absolutely.


SENATOR SOTO:  [Inaudible.]


SENATOR VINCENT:  Excuse me.  Let’s get down to the real issue.  You use the words “self-governance,” “sovereignty,” “state government,” the “federal government.”  It boils down to this:  We’re talking about money.  We’re talking about casinos.  That’s what we’re talking about; otherwise, they wouldn’t be here.  

What you’ve got to understand is this.  You’re talking about self-governance, sovereignty.  Fine.  I’ve been to many, many casinos.  I’ve been to many Indian reservations, and I’ve been all around.  If we keep playing games like we’re playing games—and I talked about the horseracing industry already.  But here’s what we’re playing.  You must remember, if the Indians have sovereignty, self-governance, fine; let them have it.  

SENATOR SOTO:  Yes.


SENATOR VINCENT:  But here’s the point though.  We’re talking about money.  The money that comes to the reservations for gambling is people outside of the reservations.  I’ve never seen Indians shooting crap.  I’ve never seen one playing a slot machine in a casino.  They’re not doing that.  The money comes from outside of the reservation.  

I’ll give you a good example.  Let’s assume the “man” says, I’ll tell you what we’re going to do.  We’re going to give all slot machines to the Hustler, the City of Commerce, Hollywood Park.  Let’s give them all to all of them.  How many people do you think would be going to Pechanga and Morongo?  Nobody would go down there.  They’d go locally.  Indians are getting a nice break where this thing is broken down.  Really.  They are.  Look at the numbers and look at the participants of the things that we’re doing and look at the self-governance, look at the self-reliance, and look at the people who are in the casinos spending their money.

PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  And this definitely goes beyond my area of expertise, but in the interest of, I don’t know what, just sheer willy-nilly, I will try to respond.  I mean, I think that both Proposition 1A in California—the amendment to the California Constitution—and the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act—Congress’s decision through IGRA—as well as the people of California’s decision through Proposition 1A was to provide for specific benefits and specifically the benefit of a monopoly on gaming, in a sense, to Indian tribes.  And I think that the intent behind both of those laws was an idea that because of the history of tribal and federal government and state government relations in this country, there was a need to provide for economic development opportunities to tribes.  

And perhaps you want to add something to that, Tom.

PROFESSOR TOM GEDE:  If I may add to that and add to Professor Moylan’s perspective.  If anything, what Congress did when it passed the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act was not grant any particular right to the tribe to engage in gaming or provide a statutory basis as a grant.  It actually limited the inherent authority of the Indian tribe using its congressional powers.  The limitations on the inherent sovereignty, I believe—on inherent tribal sovereignty—are the result of both judicial decisions at the federal level and of Congress’s use of its own plenary power to regulate commerce with Indian tribes.  


Now, granted, the Constitution only says commerce with Indian tribes, but the courts have interpreted Congress’s power to be virtually plenary—virtually absolute—with respect to that.  So, it’s Congress that has stepped in and provided a statutory basis for the regulation of gaming in Indian country, and it is actually a limitation, a restriction, on the tribe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Vincent?


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, I kind of remember some things about a proposition called 68 and a proposition called 70.  I recall that the citizens—not the Indians—voted to make this, I call it, segregation; that the Indians could have slot machines but the Hustler downtown Gardena couldn’t have them.  I remember when Pechanga could have slot machines.  Hollywood Park Casino couldn’t have them.  The voters voted for that.


PROFESSOR GEDE:  Well, that’s a matter of State law that the voters have engaged in.


SENATOR VINCENT:  This state is California.


PROFESSOR GEDE:  But the federal Congress provided that state law would govern many of those questions of what serious forms of gaming could be conducted—or Class 3 gaming could be conducted.  And if the state decides, as a matter of state law—as Oregon decides one way and Washington decides another way—if California decides it wants Indian-only slot machine gaming, that’s a prerogative of state gambling that Congress did not address, nor did Congress interpose any objection to.  Congress doesn’t speak to that.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, let me tell you something what the State can’t do and the Congress can’t do.  The Congress and the State can’t make the citizens of California go to a casino and gamble.  Let’s assume the Indians had all of it and the people said, We’re not going there.  We’re going to go to Hollywood Park.  We’re going to go to Hustler Club.  We’re going to non-Indian gaming.  Let’s say they said, We’re not going.  Well, the casinos would be empty—the Indian casinos.  Indians aren’t gambling.


PROFESSOR GEDE:  Well, that may be true, but I don’t think there’s anything in the construct of federal law that regulates Indian gaming; that addresses one way or the other who it is that’s going to participate; who the patrons of Indian gaming are going to be.  I think it’s sort of like a dormant Commerce Clause analysis:  There’s nothing that’s going to prevent the tribes from opening up a business that’s going to appeal to non-Indians—or to do business with non-Indians.  There are some restrictions Congress imposed in the 19th century, but that’s a right of sovereignty that the tribes exercise—to open up their doors to anybody they’d like.


PROFESSOR MOYLAN:  And the other factor, just to add onto that, in addition to having sovereign rights as tribes, individual members of tribes are also U.S. citizens and citizens of the states where they reside, and so, there are certain rights.  I mean, tribal members have actually dual rights and responsibilities to many sovereigns:  to the tribal sovereign as well as to the federal and state sovereigns.  So, I think that there would be no possible way to limit who could do business with any other citizen of a state or of the United States.

PROFESSOR GEDE:  That’s not to say that Congress couldn’t change it.  Congress has the power.


SENATOR VINCENT:  It seems to me—and maybe I was born at night, but not last night—it seems to me like what I’m saying you don’t understand it.  What I’m saying, I’ve never seen Indians gambling in those clubs.  I’ve never seen that.  I’ve never seen an Indian playing a slot machine.  I’ve been to all the casinos.  I’ve never seen it.  I’ve seen the people living next door to me down there breaking their neck to play.  And they could walk across the street and play at Hollywood Park and wouldn’t have to go 200 miles.

PROFESSOR GEDE:  As a matter of federal law, Senator, the Congress found that the tribes have an exclusive right to engage in the activity, and they have an exclusive right to regulate the activity, subject to some of the requirements that they set forth. 


SENATOR VINCENT:  But what I’m saying, sir, is Congress has the right to regulate, but Congress can’t tell me that I have to go to Pechanga or Morongo or someplace to play slot machines.  They can’t tell me that.  They also can’t tell me that I must go to play.  And what I’m saying to you, this thing keeps building up—and it’s already happening in horseracing already because it’s dying here.  Okay?  If the people start seeing what’s happening, they’re not going to be going to those other places either.  They’re going to Las Vegas.  


That’s all I got to say.  I think everybody understands what I’m saying.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m not sure what you’re saying, Senator Vincent.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR VINCENT:  All right.  All right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think Senator Vincent is pretty clear.


Let me ask you both, if I could—and I don’t know if you have anymore on your presentation.  The sovereignty issue as it pertains to gaming casinos in general—your reading of the election that began this process—is that for—and I don’t know how to put this—the Prop. 1A and some of the other propositions that put this, as Senator Vincent said, into play with casinos on Indian land, particularly land in trust?  You mentioned the tension between state sovereignty and federal sovereignty, and there seems to be a notion that the State can confer sovereignty itself on a particular and for a tribe.  Is that possible?  Have you ever heard of that?  That seems to be a common discussion around the Legislature lately, so I’m just wondering.

MS. MOYLAN:  I don’t think the State can confer sovereignty on a tribe.  The federal government can recognize tribes.  I think that all that Prop. 1A did—I mean, maybe “all” isn’t. . . . it’s suggested it didn’t do much, but it did—but I think that what Proposition 1A did was to make a part of state law the authority for there to be this type of Class 3 gaming.  The federal government says there are limitations unless the state law provides for it, and Proposition 1A gave that piece of the puzzle to allow gaming under the federal law.  But it’s still the federal law that controls and regulates tribal gaming.

MR. GEDE:  I don’t think the Founding Fathers contemplated, really, a serious relationship between the Indian tribes and the states.  They forcibly took it away from a very ambiguous Section 9 of the Articles of Confederation and gave it exclusively to the United States to deal with the Indian tribes, leaving the states in a very ill-defined relationship with Indian tribes, unless and until Congress speaks.  And Congress has spoken in Public Law 280, delegating certain powers to states.  Congress has spoken with the Indian Child Welfare Act or with the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But Congress hasn’t conferred upon the State to, in essence, have and recognize a state tribe for purposes of gaming in the State of California.


MR. GEDE:  Well, yes and no, Senator.  There is still the Tenth Amendment, and I think you could make an argument that what Congress did is they put an obligation on the state to negotiate with the Indian tribe, but the state could probably walk away from it if it’s not an absolute mandate on the state.  There’s no spending clause issue.  Congress just said the states shall negotiate.  That might be a Tenth Amendment violation if the state were really held to it, but the state could probably walk away.  I don’t think Congress has that kind of power over states.  It might have actually more power to deal with the Indian tribes in that regard than it does on states.  But that’s where these tensions of sovereignty all come boiling up at the same time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Is it fair to say your reading of the statutes—we had a spirited debate earlier about the ability. . . . we have a certain issue here in some pristine land where the Governor seeks to move it, and this committee is going to take a vote on that apparently—yes or no, up or down—sometime during this legislative session.  Here’s the question I have for you.  If the State said, Yes, we think it should have a compact, does the federal government have the ability to say “No,” meaning we don’t grant federally recognized land to this particular tribe?


MR. GEDE:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what would that do to our decision here at the State Legislature?


MR. GEDE:  It would basically thwart you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It would what?


MR. GEDE:  Thwart your efforts.  I think the Secretary of Interior holds delegated power sufficient from the Congress to approve or disapprove of the acquisition of land in the trust for the benefit of an Indian tribe as the secretary sees fit under certain standards that the Department of Interior has adopted consistent with the statutory framework given to it by Congress.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so, the Secretary of the Interior has the ability, even if we were to pass such compacts for our own environmental purposes in the State of California—the Secretary of the Interior has the ability to say “No.”


MR. GEDE:  Not only “No,” but the secretary can condition it.  In the Warm Springs case, the secretary said—the assistant secretary or associate secretary—said, “No” but did so suggesting that all Governor Kulongoski has to do is sit down—excuse me.  The tribe needs to file its application protecting the land and the trust through the 25 CFR, Part 151 process, and once it is in trust, then the secretary will consider the two-part determination question and then consider a compact.  But the secretary did not want a combined package from Governor Kulongoski and the Warm Springs tribe like a done deal.  The governor, of course, wanted the assurances from the tribe that this parcel of land would be the better parcel of land—less environmentally sensitive than the original parcel of land that the Warm Springs proposed on the Columbia Gorge.  And so, the secretary’s view took away flexibility from both the tribe and the governor.  And I think Governor Kulongoski and the tribe, both, are looking to push either through the courts or push the secretary to allow them to be more flexible on a deal, much like the Governor and the Big Lagoon Tribe had here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that Secretary Norton, given the Warm Springs decision—and I’m trying to get some clarity from you as experts on this.  I think she says, “‘The federal agency will no longer consider gambling agreements for sites that are not Indian lands held in trust for a tribe by the federal government,’ the department declared on March 20th in a letter.”  


What does that mean?


MR. GEDE:  It’s a policy determination by the secretary that she will look at these issues in a clearly defined sequence of federal actions rather than as a combined package.  It’s not mandated by the statute, but she feels strongly that it is compelled by the administrative processes and the spirit of the law to ensure that the land is already in trust before they go through the process of determining whether it’s suitable for gaming and a compact beyond it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, does a compact passed by this Legislature prior to that determination mean anything to the secretary?


MR. GEDE:  I don’t know the answer to that.  The secretary would probably have to chew on it.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  Any other questions, members?


Thank you both.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I would say this to you:  I really want to congratulate you for having this because when I’ve seen something. . . . that’s the first time I’ve seen something up here.  I’ve never seen so many people that couldn’t answer the questions that you asked about what we’re doing.  If they didn’t know, maybe they should have sent somebody over here that did know and give us some idea how we want to vote on it and what we want to do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think Senator Soto said it correctly in terms of getting the answers from the Administration that we need, in terms of the respect of the dual process of ratification and also the negotiation.

This would be the time for open comment.  If anyone would like to make an open comment, please proceed up, and then we will close the hearing.


MR. ROD BLONIEN:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Welcome to one of our hearings again.  Senator Soto and I and Senator Vincent always sitting here at the end, and I thank them both for that, as usual.


MR. BLONIEN:  My name is Rod Blonien, and I’m here on behalf of Los Alamitos Racecourse, Bay Meadows Racecourse, and the Commerce Club—a card club in Los Angeles.


Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you, thank you, thank you for bringing up the issue of mitigation.  I have been before this committee when each package of compacts have gone through, stressing this point, arguing this point, talking about the impact that tribal gaming can have on the other lawful forms of gambling on the State of California.  In the past—five years ago, six years ago—I talked about the impact this is going to have on California horseracing.  Senator Vincent was eloquent this morning and vociferous in making his points.  I’m not going to belabor that, but let me just say that in the last month, I met with an official from Oaklawn Racetrack in Hot Springs, Arkansas.  He told me that next year, Oaklawn is going to have more money in purses than Santa Anita is, and Santa Anita is either our number one meet or our second meet in the State.  We can argue it’s Del Mar or it’s Santa Anita, and people from one track will argue the other.  But it’s shocking to me that Arkansas is going to offer more money in purses than our premiere meet in the State of California.  I know people who have quarter horses bred and raised here in California.  They now take their horses to Arkansas, they take their horses to New Mexico, and race them because they can make twice as much money in purse money as we can here.  

We are hanging on by our pinky nail.  You know, I think, frankly, we’re no longer a first-rate horseracing state.  We’re second tier.  I mean, a lot of people in the industry won’t admit that, but when you have people like D. Wayne Lucas who says, Hey, I’m taking my horses out of California; I’m not going to race here anymore, when you have people who sit on the board of the Thoroughbred Owners of California representing the owners, when they have two stables—the California stable and then another stable that they race in Florida and New York and Kentucky—it tells you something.  Right now, if you don’t count the acquisition of the horse, if you don’t count the investment in the horse, if you just count what you pay for training and to keep the horse at the track for vet bills, it’s costing California thoroughbred owners about $300 million a year.  And if you aggregate all the thoroughbred purses, it only comes to $150 million a year.  

So, who in their right mind would invest in an industry where you only have an opportunity to get back half of what it’s going to cost you without counting your investment in the horse?  So, something needs to be done.

We’ve talked to the Governor’s Office.  They have been sympathetic.  They’ve said they want to be helpful.  Senator, I really applaud you in wanting to meet with people there and talk about this mitigation.  It’s provided for in the federal law.  It is in the federal law that the Governor has, the State has, the ability to seek mitigation.  Something needs to be done.


Talking about the card clubs for a moment:  everyone who’s benefited by the World Poker Tour and the World Series of Poker and all the poker stuff on TV.  The fact of the matter is, when I came before this committee for the first time and talked about the Pete Wilson compacts, we had over 350 card clubs in the State of California.  Today we have less than 100.  The big ones in the city are doing okay, but they are looking over their shoulders and they don’t know how long the poker boom is going to last.  And clearly, the small cities, where these clubs are situated, desperately need the card clubs to survive.  

If you take a look at the City of Commerce, the City of Bell Gardens, the City of Hawaiian Gardens, they are predominately minority.  I would say probably 80 percent working people, blue collar people, some of whom live below the poverty level in this country.  They depend upon those additional services that come from the cities.  Hawaiian Gardens, I think, is the only city in the State that has a free seniors meals program.  People can come to a location and get free food.  I think it’s five days a week provided by the City of Hawaiian Gardens.  City of Commerce, City of Bell Gardens, City of Gardena have enhanced programs for youth—gang-intervention programs—that are funded by monies that they get from the card clubs.  Commerce Club pays the City of Commerce $13 million a year.  If those clubs go away, all that revenue, of course, is going to go away—the benefit to the community.

I was amazed.  Some of the money from the City of Commerce was used to build an aqua center.  Kids go there.  They have diving lessons.  They have swimming lessons.  They have water polo, et cetera.  But I was amazed when I went there two years ago and I saw 75- and 80-year-old Hispanic women in the water doing Jazzercise.  I thought to myself, you know, That seems to be totally against the culture of the Hispanic woman, but there they are—75- and 80-year-old women in the water, in bathing suits, doing Jazzercise.  And I thought, That is really great and that is beautiful that the Commerce Club is able to provide the funding to the city to benefit those ladies.


And so, I don’t want to belabor the point, Mr. Chairman, but it’s been long overdue that the people who are negotiating compacts look at impact on other forms of gaming that were here before the tribes.  In terms of this tribe, or any of the tribes, we don’t begrudge them making money and making a hell of a lot of money.  But you have to really look over your shoulder and see what possible damage you may be doing to other industries that have been here for a long period time that employ a lot of people.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.


Senator Soto had a question.


SENATOR SOTO:  I just want to follow up a little bit on the City of Commerce and what they’re doing.  I think it was two or three years ago when I made the statement that the City of Commerce provided for each child in the city to be able to have an allocation of—I forget how much—nine or ten dollars a day for each child to be able to participate in their recreation programs, and that’s the amount of money that they got from the gambling.  If that’s what the money’s used for, I think it’s great, and we ought to have more of it, because we just simply don’t have enough extra money to provide that kind of recreation for kids.


MR. BLONIEN:  Senator, I can’t speak to the number, but I know they have before-school programs, and they have after-school programs.  Some of the parents have to go to work at 5 a.m.  They have city assistance in terms of caring for those kids.  They have tutoring after school.  It’s a very good program.  It’d be wonderful if everyone had it.

Thank you all.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MS. BARBARA LYONS:  Hi.  Thank you.  My name is Barbara Lyons, vice chair of the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians.  Thank you for having us here today, Committee Chair and the committee itself.


In 2000, 67 percent of California’s electorate and the State Legislature approved the 1999 Gaming Compacts between over 60 California tribes and the State of California.  These compacts have worked well for the State, the local communities, and local entities and the compact tribes and their members.  As the direct result of our compact, the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians have developed, constructed, and now operate two casinos and a hotel which employs over 2,400 residents of the Riverside County.  Our casinos and hotel have been an economic stimulus to the County of Riverside and local communities.  The revenue sharing provision of the ’99 Compacts have resulted in our tribe contributing more than 30 million to nongaming tribes and to our local cities in Riverside County for local mitigation.  This has occurred through voluntary—not forced—government-to-government consultations and meetings.  In addition, Agua Caliente has donated many millions of dollars to local charities to assist the senior citizens, youth, and others in the surrounding local communities.  

We have established under our compact a fair means of resolving patron claims and for personal injury and property damage.  These provisions respect the tribal sovereignty, protect the patron, and fairly resolve all patron claims within specified insurance limits and protect the tribe from improper claims.  

Our compact established fair standards for addressing construction and environmental issues.  We have clearly demonstrated a record of working cooperatively with the cities within our reservation boundaries in a voluntary government-to-government, neighbor-to-neighbor manner.  Our compact required the establishment of a tribal labor relations ordinance, which we immediately created.  We stand ready to honor that ordinance should labor decide to abide by this provision.  The language required of the ordinance was inserted into the negotiating compact at the request of former Senator, President Pro Tem, John Burton.  We swallowed hard before agreeing to take the language.  

Our compact has worked very well by recognizing that the Tribal Gaming Commission under the supervision of the National Indian Gaming Commission handle the licensing of vendors, management, and employees.  Our employees are well compensated by industry standards, and they have exceptional healthcare benefits for themselves and their families.

We are deeply saddened to have expressed deep concerns over the contents of the Quechan Nation compact.  Quechan is a sovereign tribe, and we respect their sovereign decision-making.  We have a sense, however, that this new compact is a result of a “take it or leave it” policy by the Governor’s negotiators.  In addition, some of these amendments were never meant to be applicable to the Quechan Tribe and are being used by the Governor’s negotiators as the new terms for all new compacts and amendments to ’99 Compacts.  They have become boilerplate in the compact renegotiations.


Under Quechan’s compact, no payments will be provided to the Special Distribution Fund, even though the workload for the State’s Gambling Control Commission and Attorney General’s Division of Gaming will be increased.  Those costs are paid for by the Special Distribution Fund created by the ’99 Compacts.  The Special Distribution Fund also pays for gambling addiction programs, grants to the State and county governments, agencies mitigating the impacts of gaming, and shortfalls in the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund which was created to provide 1.1 million per year, per each nongaming tribe.  And of course, you know nongaming tribes are tribes with less than 350 machines.  As you know and you have pointed out, the Quechan compact may never pay into the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund.  


Also, the Quechan revenue sharing for 1,100 slot machines does not and cannot reach the higher scales of revenue sharing.  So, why is the sliding scale up to 25 percent in this compact?  The answer is quite obvious:  to establish a new revenue sharing formula for all new compacts and to all future amended compacts to be negotiated by the ’99 Compact tribes with the State in order to get more slot machines.


The Quechan compact also ties the amount of revenue sharing to the number of tribal members.  This population criteria is very offensive to tribal governments and Indian people.  The labor provisions deviate from the ’99 Compacts by authorizing union organizations to picket on tribal lands and to hand out leaflets on tribal lands.  This is direct infringement of our tribal sovereignty on our tribal lands.  The compact seeks to impose different dispute resolution requirements on the tribe.  The compact strips away the tribal sovereignty-imposed local controls and opportunities for abuse by local government agencies.  These abuses allow local communities to impose wish lists and unreasonable financial burdens and demands on the construction for the new gaming facility and expansion of existing gaming facilities.

The Quechan Tribe compact seeks to expand the scope of authority granted to the State Gambling Control Commission which will merely increase its employees and its costs.  These increases will also be paid from the Special Distribution Fund without any payments to the fund from the new gaming compacts.  That leaves even less in the fund for local governments and gambling addiction programs.  In addition, there is less left to the fund to fund the shortfalls of payments to nongaming tribes.


These are the major defects of this compact before you.  The ’99 Compacts have worked very well.  It is our belief that the Governor is missing an opportunity to build off the success of the ’99 Compacts to mutually benefit the State of California.  We cannot live with the taking away of tribal sovereignty.


I appreciate you listening to me, and thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


COUNCILMAN ANDREW MASIEL:  My name is Andrew Masiel.  I’m a tribal councilman from the Pechanga Indian Reservation.  I just wanted to clarify a couple of remarks that were made earlier with respect to tribes not opposing what the parameters of what the Quechan compact had entailed.  

I can tell you, Senator, our tribe actually had two meetings with the Quechan Tribal Council.  One up here in Sacramento and one near the Ontario Airport.  At the Ontario Airport, we had our full council with them because we had expressed concerns with some of the items within their compact.  We went over them in quite firm detail as to why we felt they were offensive, why we felt they were out of line in terms of what we actually believed in.  We were basically looking at the conditions of their compacts and, quite frankly, felt that they were out of line.  Moreover, we felt they were out of line because we had seen just recently, months before that, where compacts were negotiated with other tribes that were quite different from the ’99 Compact.  And we felt, as they speak of their sovereign right and authority, we as a tribe speak of our sovereign right and authority that if we’re in opposition because we feel in future negotiations for our tribe, if those parameters are built to a certain bar level that we’re in disagreement with, we simply didn’t want those conditions that were negotiated by the tribes to simply be the starting points for us.  So, that’s the reason we were primarily opposed to it, and we still are, quite frankly.


We had asked the Quechan Tribal Council to seek a provision or parameter that would say something that would be applicable just strictly to their tribe, and we never did get that.  We waited and it never did happen.  As it turned out, we went ahead and expressed our opposition for the compact and still feel that way.

The other concern that Vice Chairwoman Lyons expressed is about the special distribution.  Let me speak about that for a minute.  In the Proposition 1A compacts, we stood firm on the Special Distribution Fund because we felt a commitment that if any impacts were to occur, that we as a tribe in that local area would be responsive to that.  And we have been.  If you look at the situation, the things about traffic control and other impacts, well, obviously they affect the enterprise as well.  We’re in the same interest level of solving those problems.  So, for this compact not to have any implications to special distribution funds in terms of the regulatory process, in part, and us as ’99 compactees to be responsible for that, that’s wrong.  That’s not equitable.  That’s not fair.  


And with respect to the seed amount of revenue, you had a pretty interesting dialogue with the State representatives to what that means and what that level is, and they couldn’t answer that.  Our feeling is that it was intended to be there solely for a position where they would never pay.  How can that be fair?  We all—the ’99 compactees—signed this with that intent and that agreement;  and particularly, we had the intent in the amount of obligating money to nongaming tribes.  That was the obligation we made.  That was the agreement we made.  Were we required to do that?  No.  But the point is, is we felt that as our fellow brethrens within the State, that they needed that opportunity, and if they were going to be nongaming, if it was 350 machines or no machines—because we have some tribes in the State that aren’t involved in any gaming whatsoever and have moved on.  In one case in particular, the Hoopa Tribe would actually—I can share this because it’s public information—they actually have built a modular manufacturing plant with that money.  And that’s the intent of those sorts of resources.

So, we still oppose unless there’s an amendment to this.  Again, Senator, the Special Distribution Fund I think is very important.  Most of you come from local governments and really understand the impacts of what that means.


Just one other comment with respect to what we’re doing for the community.  In Pechanga, we’ve paid more than $8 million to the City of Temecula for some of the offsite improvements having to do with traffic and signaling and lighting and street improvements.  The voluntary contributions are above and beyond the payments of the Indian Gaming Special Distribution Fund.  Since 2002, they’ve exceeded over $67 million.

Our commitment to Temecula Valley, where our reservation and casino is located, goes well beyond the Special Distribution Fund and the mitigation of off-reservation impacts.  For instance, in recent years the tribe has made voluntary contributions of 1.3 million to the local schools in the Temecula Unified School District.  More than 1.5 million is going to the Boys and Girls Club of South Riverside County.  And just recently, because the local entities can’t have a tax base for the tribe, we contributed over 600,000 to the Temecula Convention and Visitors Bureau.  

All these figures have nothing to do with the Distribution Fund.  It’s about two things, Senator:  about being a good neighbor and it’s about giving back.  And maybe one of our problems as tribes, as individuals, is we don’t brag a lot, and maybe that’s from our ways and the way we believe.  We had a situation where these particular needs in our valley were. . . . they did come forward to us and we met the need.  But would we go out and tell the world what we did?  No.  And I think that happens in a lot of tribal communities, where we don’t properly boast, ourselves, to doing something that we think is something that is just right.


And I want to thank you for that time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Got it.


MS. LAURA MIRANDA:  Good afternoon.  Laura Miranda, tribal member from the Pechanga Tribe and also in-house attorney for the tribe.


What Vice Chairwoman Lyons and Councilman Masiel are speaking about as far as the voluntary efforts and the relationships with the local governments is our principal concern in regard with these compacts; is that many of the terms seem to neglect the relationships that tribes have formulated with their local governments and the strong and positive working relationships that the tribes have formulated, and these new compacts are replacing this with mandatory MOUs, mandatory agreements, to facilitate a local government relationship with tribes.  We believe that that’s offensive to a government working relationship that tribes and local governments are able to have and should be given the opportunity to have.


We do not understand why tribes would take on additional requirements, such as are in these new compacts:  additional mitigation requirements, additional regulatory requirements.  If these things are already working under the existing compacts and there is no relationship to the changes that are being made to add these additional requirements, we are concerned that once we go in to negotiate a compact. . . . the line that these compacts have been taking over the past year or so with the new Administration has been the same.  And Quechan is correct:  They may not be the first tribe to take a compact with some of these terms.  We had looked at that and hoped that these terms wouldn’t continue to be applied.  But now we’re seeing that they are continuing to be applied.  And so, when we go in to negotiate a new compact, we’re afraid that these terms are going to be foisted on us.  That our positive relationships with our local governments are not going to be taken into account.  That we’re going to be forced into contractual relationships that are not necessary and that which thwarts the government-to-government relationship that we’ve built up.


We believe that these new compacts are an unjustified departure from established State policy and that they’re an erosion of tribal sovereignty.  There’s some basic terms that we believe must be adhered to by the State.  Again, we are not here to speak against Quechan’s ability or right to provide for their people.  We’re not opposing any tribe’s right to economic self-sufficiency.  We support Quechan’s right to do this.  We are just here to point out some problems that we believe have been getting worse and continue to go down this path which are eroding tribal sovereignty.

First of all, the State must negotiate with tribes in good faith.  We don’t think that tribes should be offered a template list of terms that they’re required to select from to begin negotiations.  The way this was explained to us is that’s exactly what’s been happening when tribes go in to negotiate.  They are given a certain list of template terms that they have to choose from, and they are not able to veer from those terms.  If the template terms are not applicable to a tribe’s factual situation, why are they being applied?  Quechan took great lengths at explaining all of their accomplishments and how well they’ve done under the ’99 Compacts, so why would they agree to change that system so drastically?  If a tribe has upheld its obligations under the ’99 Compacts, then why do they need more requirements, more regulation, outside jurisdictional authority, that has never been needed before and that there’s no demonstrated need for?


Tribal compacts must meet the requirements of federal law, and they must comply with the IGRA.  Some of the pertinent points of IGRA is that the application of criminal and civil laws and regulation must be directly related to, and necessary for, the licensing and regulation of such activity.  If the tribes can regulate themselves adequately, then there is no need for outside jurisdiction—outside State authority.  Court jurisdiction.  Arbitration.  If a tribe is doing that well with their own resources and with their own existing structures, then terms, for example, that are contained in the Quechan compact are not directly related to and not necessary.  The allocation of criminal and civil jurisdiction between State and tribe must be necessary for the enforcement of such laws and regulations and nothing beyond that.  The tribes shouldn’t be placed under State law jurisdiction when they can be required as they were under the ’99 Compacts to adopt certain building standards in their own law as a matter of compact compliance with tribal law and tribal systems.  And those tribal systems should be respected.

The tribal governments must be treated as co-equals, and we are afraid that these compacts depart from that treatment as co-equals.


Tribes should not be required to accept labor practices that are not imposed upon either governments or private employers in any other setting.  Environmental mitigation must not bind tribes to unilateral approval of local governments as an arbitrator which is politically vulnerable and an inappropriate method of resolving disputes between governments.  Tribes do not have such authority over local projects that impact Indian lands, so why would local governments have a unilateral approval over tribes?


In closing, I just want to say that our main concerns with this compact, again, are not with Quechan and the difficult decisions that they’ve had to make, but are primarily with regard to the terms being foisted on future tribes that they may not be applicable to.


And there’s been a handout of a side-by-side comparison between the two compacts that has been handed out from Pechanga.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we will submit that for the record.  These are the comparisons between the current compacts before us and the templates that you’ve mentioned and also the 1999 Compacts.  Correct?


MS. MIRANDA:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, this is not the comparison of the compacts that were signed even prior to these compacts.


MS. MIRANDA:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  These are these current compacts before us—the new template, as you mentioned.


MS. MIRANDA:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  We’ll submit that for the record.


Anybody else to testify?  


MR. MAURICE LYONS:  Good afternoon, Chairman and members.  Late afternoon anyway.  I’ll be brief.


I’m Maurice Lyons.  I’m the chairman of the Morongo Band of Mission Indians.  We appreciate your efforts to better understand the content and possible consequences of the Quechan amendments and to give Morongo the opportunity to share its views in this important subject.


Over the past eighteen months, every new or amended compact has set a new standard for imposing additional burdens and restrictions on other tribes no matter how well another tribe’s compact may be working, just as Morongo’s is.  We don’t know what is best for the Quechan Tribe or the details of their regulatory issues.  

I am pleased and proud to report that the regulatory and intergovernmental aspects of the Morongo’s ’99 Compact are working very well.  We are living up to the letter and the spirit of the agreement between our two governments.  Patrons, workers, public safety, and the environment are all being well protected exactly as the State and Morongo agreed they would be.  


Specifically regarding patron protection, a neutral third party hears and decides contested claims for personal injury or property damage.  The tribe’s independent and professional gaming agency deals with gaming disputes and maintains the integrity of all gaming activities.  Our compact took effect nearly six years ago, and the State has not notified Morongo of any shortcomings in any of these procedures.  Worker protection.  Morongo’s worker’s compensation system is both fair and efficient.  We’ve heard no criticism from the State about it.  Environmental protection.  Our environmental process to build our new resort and mitigate off-reservation impacts is a great success and a model for others.  The millions of dollars that we have paid into the Special Distribution Fund each year is providing more than adequate to mitigate any off-reservation impacts from our activities.  The Riverside County Board of Supervisors endorsed this approach to off-reservation mitigation in a resolution passed August 2004.  I have a copy for the committee.

In short, we are doing the right thing in the right way.


Now, back to the concern about the proposed amendments to Quechan’s compact.  The proposed Quechan compact would dramatically change the governmental provisions that I’ve just explained are working so well at Morongo.  Most of these changes have appeared virtually in all compacts since January 2004.  In September 2004, Morongo made its own offer of hundreds of millions of dollars upfront—ongoing payments of millions of dollars more from our slot machines’ net win and clarification of the ambiguities.  Seventeen months later, we have yet to receive a response from the substantive offer we made.  We are patiently waiting a response from the Administration.  Until we hear, we really won’t know whether these same wholesale changes will be required of our government.  We simply ask the State, as President Reagan once said, to “trust but verify.”  The Administration began to verify the process some time ago.  We assume that the State continues to verify the above-mentioned protections in place and working well at Morongo.  Morongo would like to trust that the State would not use these agreements to mandate these wholesale changes on us without cause.  But, as of today, we can’t say that for sure.


Mr. Chair and members, until we can say that these wholesale changes will not be mandated on Morongo, we must continue to respectfully oppose the ratification of the Quechan amendment.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. GEORGE FORMAN:  Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, my name is George Forman.  I’m special counsel to Morongo and am here with Chairman Lyons to be available to answer any questions that the members of the committee may have.


I would just echo very briefly the concern that the chairman has expressed.  As illustrated by a very telling comment that Mr. Stidham made during his presentation, which was in discussing the membership issue, the tribe was told by the Governor’s Office that This is what we did at Fort Mojave, and this is what we’re doing for you.  It is precisely that precedential effect about which Morongo is concerned.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.


Is there any other member that has concerns with the compact who would like to speak?


Okay.


MR. STIDHAM:  I appreciate the opportunity to respond to this.  I think it’s fairly clear that the tribes that are opposing this are not really opposing Quechan.  They’re not really opposing the tribe’s right to get a compact.  Their beef is with the Governor and not being able to get the compact they desire based on their circumstances.


We fully support and always have supported other tribes to negotiate individual compacts based on their needs.  We at this point in time have no reason and have never argued with the Governor that he should be using a template to negotiate and to present those types of issues to other tribes.  We’ve made that clear.


In terms of the response by Mr. Masiel about not having language in there about this not being a template, we have asked the Governor—we have made that clear that we’re willing to put that in the legislation.  Whatever you want in there that says this should not be regarded as a template; that this is not anything more than the Quechan’s Tribe’s compact as we’ve negotiated.  

The tribe’s comfortable with what it’s negotiated.  We’re not asking any other tribe to accept those terms.  It works for us.  We ask that it be moved forward.  That’s all we’re asking.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Mr. Chair, could I make a comment?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


SENATOR VINCENT:  You know, we’ve done a lot of talking.  A lot of talking.  I’m going to give you an example of what just talking does.  Some time ago—over a year ago—and I talked about the horseracing industry.  You know what I’m talking about.  I was told by a person who was in high esteem here—pretty good—he said, Ed, if you get a task force together regarding this horseracing industry, people who are in horseracing—the best—and bring them together, we’ll sit down and figure something out to save the horseracing industry in the State of California.  You bring it back in the form of a bill and there’ll be a lot of coauthors.

Hear what I did.  I sent it to over sixty people, and some of the people I talked to got a little upset when I mentioned the Indians being involved in this.  I said, Wait a minute.  I’m not going to do anything independent.  I’m not going to set up a task force or any other kind of force up if the Indians are not going to be involved in it.  So, I sent them all out.  I did not have one person on the horseracing task force in all the tribes I sent to participate.  I had one, two, three, four, five, six, seven that we sent it to.  I even put CNIGA on the task force on my own!  Nobody ever showed up.  I put them on it myself.  

I will say this:  that the relationship I’ve had with Pechanga has been good; although, it still doesn’t fall within these documents.  And I’m talking about a situation which they could have been part of.  They didn’t respond.  We’ve had several meetings.  Now we’re ready maybe to do some legislation.  But I didn’t get the participation from the tribes.  And I’m with the tribes.  You could watch it on TV—the propositions—when I was in the Assembly.  

So, what I’m saying, if you don’t participate—it’s late when you come up sometime to say things that you had a chance to say these things.  At the time I did this, the members of that committee, they said, Why are you putting the tribes in there?  I said, Because they’re part of the State as much as we are, and they’re part of the industry as much as we are.  I said, I’d hope they may even want to buy a racetrack.

But anyway, Mr. Chairman, if anybody wants to look—and I don’t want to call anybody’s names—I’ve got the names we’ve sent them to.  I’ve got the people who participated and the people who didn’t.  And I’ll tell you now, nobody participated.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gentlemen, thank you.


Let’s go ahead and adjourn this hearing until this evening.


It’s a joke, guys.  [Laughter.]


I know we must have long hearings when no one laughs.  Aaron was all prepared, like, Sure, why not?

Number one, let me thank the Quechan Tribe for going through a due diligence hearing.  I don’t think there’s anything more than that.  And more importantly, let me tell the tribe thank you for, in essence, being the model for the committee going forward on compacts.  We have Yurok coming before us.  They will go through that same process in terms of an informational hearing before a vote so we can get all of these issues out.  When your compact does come, we’ll try to proceed, in essence, as a “yes or no/up or down” vote only, with very minimal types of questions.  The reason for that is we will make sure that the transcript of this is sent to every member of this committee who did not sit through a four-and-a-half-hour hearing and yet has the information available to them and is able to peruse through that at their leisure and will come to committee, hopefully, much more ready and precise with any follow-up questions that they may not have been here to answer.


So, I do want to thank the tribe particularly for that.  I’m not sure how you’re proceeding on with your legislation.  Mr. Read mentioned something moving over from the Assembly.  It really is in your purview, but I do want to thank you for doing that.


I’d also like to thank the Governor’s Office for, in essence, making the point; and that is, we really do need to hear more from the negotiators themselves.  It is important that this committee understand what the negotiation points are.  We don’t necessarily need to know the “top secret sauce” in this, whatever that is, but we do need to know, in essence, how it’s spread.  And so, if people could, please, from the Governor’s Office who are listening, please know that that is important to this process.  As Senator Soto said, it says there’s an amount of respect between the people that negotiate and, ultimately, people that ratify.  That’s extremely important to the committee.  


I want to thank our experts for coming as well and presenting the sovereignty issue.  

But more importantly, I’d like to invite my staff to lunch next week because I kept them from lunch, and I want to thank them for doing this.  And the sergeants as well.  


And everyone, thank you for participating today.  We will put this on the record.  It will be available.  And Senator Vincent, as usual, thank you—and Senator Soto—for sitting through this entire hearing.  I very much appreciate it all.

Thank you all.  We’ll adjourn the hearing of the Senate G.O. Committee.

# # #
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